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Preliminary Statement 

References to the settled record in 30CRI11-000018 as reflected by the Clerk’s 

Index with be to the designation (R) and the applicable page.  References to the Clerk’s 

Index in 30Juv09-000005 will be to the designation (JR) followed by the applicable page.  

References to Appellant’s Index will be to designation (App) and the applicable page; the 

transfer hearing will be referred to as “TH” followed by the applicable volume and page 

number; suppression hearing transcript will be to the designation of SH followed by the 

applicable page; jury trial transcripts will be referred to as (JT) followed by the applicable 

volume and page number; and references to the sentencing hearing will be to the 

designation (SH) and the applicable page.  

Jurisdictional Statement 

 

Maricela Nicolasa Diaz respectfully appeals from transfer of her case from 

juvenile court to criminal court.  (JR 136).  Diaz also appeals the convictions and 

sentence entered against her on March 27, 2105. (R 2613). Diaz filed her Notice of 

Appeal on April 21, 2015. (R 2859).  This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to 

SDCL 15-26A-1(1), SDCL 23A-32-2, 9 & 5.   

Request For Oral Argument 

Appellant, Maricela Diaz, and her counsel, Doug Dailey and Chris Nipe, 

respectfully request the privilege of appearing before this Court for oral argument. 

 

Statement of the Issues 

1. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Ordering Diaz be Tried in Adult 

Court. 
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The trial court in the juvenile case held that Diaz should be transferred from 

juvenile court to adult court.  The most important cases are: State v. Jensen, 

1998 S.D. 52; State v. Harris, 494 N.W.2d 691 (S.D. 1993); 
 
State v. Rios, 499 

N.W.2d  906 (S.D. 1993); and State v. Flying Horse, 2002 S.D. 47.  The most 

important statute is SDCL § 26-11-4. 

2. Trial court abused its discretion in denying a new hearing on the transfer of 

Diaz to adult Court despite newly discovered evidence following the hearing 

regarding the State’s expert witness Dr. Donald Dutton. 

The trial court denied defendants motion to grant a new hearing on the 

transfer of Diaz to adult court after new evidence was disclosed by the State in 

regard to its expert witness who testified on behalf of the State at the transfer 

hearing.  The most important cases are:  Bridgewater Quality Meats, LLC v. 

Heim, 2007 S.D. 233; and Steele v. Steele, 510 N.W.2d 661 (S.D. 1994).  The 

most important statute is SDCL §15-6-59(b) 

3. The trial court erred in admitting the statements made by Diaz to law 

enforcement.   

This Court held the statements of Diaz were admissible as it found Diaz 

knowingly and intelligently waived her Miranda rights.  The most important 

cases are:   State v. Maricela Nicolasa Diaz, 2014 S.D. 27; Miranda v. 

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436; 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966); State v. Horse, 2002 S.D. 57; 

and People in the Interests of J.M.J., 2007 S.D. 1.  The most important 

statutes are:  SDCL §26-7A-12; SDCL §26-7A-13; SDCL §26-7A-15; and 

SDCL §26-7A-17. 

 

4. Trial Court failed to adequately instruct the jury with a full and correct 

statement of the law applicable to the effects of physical and sexual abuse on 
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a juvenile’s perception of imminent fear, thereby, denying her right to 

present her Defense.  

The trial court denied the use of Defendant’s proposed jury instructions which 

would have instructed the jury on the heightened sense of imminent danger 

felt by children who suffer from physical and sexual abuse.  The most 

important cases are: State v. Walton, 600 N.W.2d 524 (S.D. 1999); State v. 

Springer, 2014 S.D. 80; and Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012).  The 

most important statutes are: NA.  

5. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Sentencing Diaz to 80 Years, with 

No Time Suspended. 

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  State v. McKinney, 2005 S.D. 

73; State v. Hinger,  1999 S.D. 91; Bult v. Leaply,  507 N.W.2d 325 (S.D. 

1993). The most important statutes are: NA 

 

6. The Sentenced Imposed on Diaz Violated the Principle of Proportionality of 

Sentencing. 

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  Solem v. Helm,  463 U.S. 277 

(1983); State v. Bonner, 1998 S.D. 30; State v. Rhines, 1996 S.D. 55; 7 State 

v. Blair, 2005 S.D. 75. The most important statutes are: NA 
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7. The Trial Court Erred by Sentencing Diaz to a De Facto Life Sentence.  

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 

48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d. 825 (2010); Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 

551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2010); Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 

(2012); and Montgomery v. Louisiana,  S.Ct. Docket 14-280. The most 

important statutes are: NA 

 

Statement of the Case 

Diaz was charged in juvenile court with First Degree Murder, First Degree 

Murder-Felony Murder: Arson, and First Degree Arson. (JR 5).  The State moved to 

transfer Diaz to adult court. (JR 10).  In juvenile court, Diaz moved to suppress her 

statements to law enforcement. (JR 157).  The juvenile Court, presided over by Circuit 

Court Judge Sean O’Brien, denied the motion.  (JR 1157).  Following the transfer hearing 

the Court ordered Diaz be transferred to adult court. (JR 1366; R 1, 15; App 1). Diaz 

moved the Court to vacate the Order transferring her to adult court pursuant to SDCL § 

15-6-59(b) (JR 1379, App 38) which was denied by the Court (R 516; App 39, 42). 

Diaz was indicted for First Degree Murder; Conspiracy to Commit First Degree 

Murder; First Degree Felony Murder: Arson; First Degree Arson; First Degree Felony 

Murder: Aggravated Kidnapping; and Second Degree Aggravated Kidnapping.  (R 22).   

Diaz plead not guilty to each of the charges.  In adult Court Diaz was granted a change of 

judge and Circuit Judge Timothy Bjorkman was appointed to the case. (R 73).  Diaz 

moved again to suppress her statements to law enforcement, asking the trial court to 
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reconsider the previous decision.  (R 192).  The court granted the motion to reconsider 

and subsequently granted the defendant’s motion to suppress Diaz’ statements to law 

enforcement. (R 789; 1026).  The State filed a petition for intermediate appeal of the 

decision to suppress Diaz’s statements, which was granted by this Court. (R 1400).  This 

Court overturned the Trial Court’s order suppressing Diaz’ statements to law 

enforcement (R 1422; 1423) and entered Remittitur (R 174). 

Jury trial commenced on December 29, 2014.  At the close of the State’s 

evidence, the Defendant made a detailed motion to dismiss the charges as a matter of law 

for the for State’s failure to submit sufficient evidence to support a conviction and again 

renewed those motions at the close of all evidence.  (JT Vol. XII 1066-1067, 1323).    

The Court granted the Defendant’s motion with regard to Count 2 (Conspiracy to 

Commit Murder) but denied the motions with regard to the remaining counts (JT Vol. IX 

1326-1327).  On January 15, 2015 the jury returned its verdict convicting Diaz on Counts 

1 (Murder), 3 (First Degree Felony Murder: Arson), 4 (First Degree Arson), 5 (Felony 

Murder: Aggravated Kidnapping) and 6 (Second Degree Aggravated Kidnapping).  (R 

2613, JT Vol. VIII 1149, App 62). 

Following the jury verdict Defendant made a motion to dismiss the guilty verdicts 

to Counts 3 and 4 as a matter of law.  (R 2600) which the trial court subsequently 

granted.  (R 2611).   

On March 31, 205, Judge Bjorkman sentenced Diaz to Eighty (80) years in the 

South Dakota State Penitentiary.  (R 2613, App 62).   

 

Statement of Facts 
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Diaz was born on September 10, 1994 in Mexico. (TH Vol. IV 567).  Diaz 

relocated from Mexico to Fort Wayne, Indiana with her mother when she was 11 years 

old. (TH Vol. IV 658).  In both Mexico and Fort Wayne, she was a well behaved, happy 

little girl.  She attended school regularly and had decent grades. (TH Vol. IV 659-662). 

At the age of 13, she made the acquaintance of 19 year old Alexander Salgado.  Salgado 

started a sexual relationship with Diaz shortly after they met. (TH Vol. II 248-249).  Diaz 

is a sexual abuse victim and physical abuse victim of Salgado under the laws of South 

Dakota and Indiana.  Diaz had a child by Salgado when Diaz was 14 years old.  (TH Vol. 

II 279). 

Salgado regularly used alcohol and drugs and would provide alcohol and drugs to 

Diaz.  (TH Vol. II 298)  She started skipping school to drink and do drugs with him.  Id. 

Salgado was an officer of the Sureńo 13 gang which is one of the largest gangs in the 

United States.   (TH Vol. III 447; JT Vol. II 774-775).   He had “soldiers” under his 

authority.  (TH Vol III 481-482). 

Salgado was verbally, physically and sexually abusive to Diaz during their 

relationship. (TH Vol III 525-536)(JT Vol. V, p 790).  He admitted to striking Diaz in the 

face and pulling her hair on numerous occasions.  (TH Vol. II 255-256, 283-284, 301) 

(JT Vol. V 791-792, 794, 796-797).  He also cut her wrist on one occasion and left her to 

die. (TH Vol III 529-530)(JT Vol. V, p 792-793).  As a result Diaz was committed to a 

mental health hospital as a result of the “suicide”.  (TH Vol. V 1008-1009).   Salgado has 

all of the traits of a sociopath.   

Due to her association with Salgado, Diaz became a ward of Indiana, and in its 

legal custody at least as early as October 15, 2009.  She was not in the custody of her 
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mother, Irma Gutierez-Placencia, because the Indiana juvenile court explicitly found that 

her mother had an “inability to supervise and protect M.D.”  Shortly before the Indiana 

juvenile court found her in need of protection and took custody of her, Salgado took her 

to South Dakota. (TH Vol. III 537-539). 

Salgado had been kicked out of his mother’s home in September or October of 

2009 because of his violence and drug use.  (TH Vol. III 534-535).  He informed Diaz 

that he was moving to another state.  He then burglarized his mother’s home and stole her 

personal belongings to sell so he could purchase bus tickets from to Mitchell, South 

Dakota.  (TH Vol. III 537-538)(JT Vol V 794). Diaz came with him, and was completely 

dependent on Salgado.  (JT Vol. V 795).  She spoke limited English, could not work, 

count not drive, and had no money of her own. (JT Vol III 583, Vol V 795).   She had no 

identification and no way to get back to Fort Wayne.  (JT Vol. V 795-796).   

On November 10, 2009 firefighters and law enforcement responded to a vehicle 

fire in a wooded area in Hanson County, South Dakota.  After they extinguished the fire, 

authorities discovered a badly burned body, later identified as Jasmine Guevera, in the 

trunk of the car.  (JT Vol IV, pp 535-536; TH Vol 1, p 136). 

 The next morning Mitchell Police Department investigators Reinesch and Russell 

traveled to the residence of Jasmine’s friend, Steffany Molina (“Molina”).  (JT Vol IV, 

pp 540-541).  Molina let Reinesch inside, and Reinesch informed her that Jasmine’s car 

had been located and that law enforcement had been looking for her.  (JT Vol. IV 543-

544; JSH 58-61)  Further facts regarding the preliminary investigation and subsequent 

interrogation of Diaz are set forth in State of SD v. Maricela Nicolasa Diaz, 2014 SD 27, 

and incorporated herein by reference.  One fact that was not addressed in the facts set out 
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in that appeal were that the interrogating officers placed a can of lighter fluid in front of 

15 year old Diaz during their interrogation of her. (JT Vol. VI 850). 

 Law enforcement also interviewed Alex Salgado after which time both Salgado 

and Diaz were arrested for Guevara’s murder.  Salgado placed all blame for the offense 

on Diaz, saying she essentially planned the crime and committed the major portion of it.  

(TH Vol II 363-425).  Salgado eventually plead guilty to the offense of second degree 

murder pursuant to a plea agreement with the State of South Dakota. (TH Vol. II 237).  

Part of Salgado’s plea agreement was that he agreed to debrief with law enforcement and 

testify against Diaz.  (JT Vol. V 771).  Salgado avoided the possibility of facing the death 

penalty as a result of his plea agreement.  (JT Vol. V 771).  Diaz has always maintained 

the crimes were initiated and committed by Salgado, and any limited involvement were 

as a result of the dominion and control Salgado had over her and the fear she had of him.   

As Diaz was only 15 years old at the time of the murder she was petitioned into 

juvenile court on allegations of First Degree Murder, First Degree Murder-Felony 

Murder: Arson, and First Degree Arson. (JR 5). The State moved to transfer Diaz to adult 

court. (R 10).   

At the transfer hearing Steve Allard, associate warden of the South Dakota 

Women’s prison, testified regarding the security and programs at the South Dakota 

Women’s prison.  (TH Vol. I 44-67). With the exception of the medical and nutritional 

needs of particular inmates at the prison, the programs offered to inmates are based on 

need and release date, not age.  (TH Vol. I 49). There are no separate areas in the prison 

to house juveniles apart from adults. (TH Vol. I 64).  At the time of the hearing there 

were no juvenile prisoners in the prison. (TH Vol. I 64). 
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Doug Herman testified as to the capacities of the South Dakota Department of 

Corrections regarding juvenile offenders. (TH Vol. I 68-108).   Juveniles committed to 

the DOC undergo a specific intake and classification to determine individual needs and 

risks, which allows the DOC to put together a plan for rehabilitation to lower the risk of 

juveniles reoffending when they are released from incarceration.  (TH Vol. I 70-77). Each 

juvenile assessment focuses on the juvenile’s needs as well as the safety of the public.  

(TH Vol. I 101). The programs offered by the DOC are age specific; the juveniles are 

offered medical and mental health services.  (TH Vol. I 103). The DOC has contracts 

with three primary programs outside the state for juvenile inmates which contain secure 

facilities.  (TH Vol. I 86).  The State of South Dakota is required to be in compliance 

with the Juvenile Justice Delinquency Prevention Act which requires juvenile offenders 

not be incarcerated with adult.  (TH Vol. I 104-105).  All commitments of juveniles to the 

DOC are until the age of 21. (TH Vol. I 93).  Diaz will be deported to Mexico as soon as 

she is released from the custody of the State.  

Diaz was examined by four psychiatric professional who testified at the transfer 

hearing.  Dr. Beverly Gunderson, an adolescent psychologist, testified that the 

psychological profiles suggested for Diaz are not unusual and can be considered common 

for a 15 year old in the juvenile system. (TH Vol. IV 728).   Dr. Travis Hansen testified 

for the State.  His initial opinion that Diaz could be rehabilitated by the SD juvenile 

system was later changed to conclude that there would be adequate programming 

available to rehabilitate Diaz and to provide for the public safety provided there was a 

secure facility.  (TH Vol. III 617, 635-641).  Hansen found Diaz had a diagnosis of 

conduct disorder, adolescent onset.  Conduct disorder typically resolves itself by age 18.  
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(TH Vol. III 619-621). One of the possible reasons for the diagnosis was the sexual abuse 

suffered by Diaz.  Conduct disorder is the most common diagnosis for children in the 

juvenile justice system in SD. (TH Vol. III 465-466).  Dr. David Bean also testified with 

regard to his psychological examination of Diaz.  Bean opined the juvenile system is set 

up to handle youth who have the diagnosis Diaz has.  (TH Vol. V 1016-1018). He further 

opined that Diaz was in need of the psychiatric care offered in the juvenile system and 

that she would not receive appropriate psychiatric care if she were incarcerated in the SD 

Women’s prison. (TH Vol. V 1017-1018).  Drs. Gunderson, Hansen and Bean all 

diagnosed Diaz as a victim of sexual and physical abuse.  Representatives of Reclaiming 

Youth International testified Diaz could be rehabilitated in the juvenile justice system and 

that there would be an increased risk that Diaz would be subject to physical and sexual 

abuse if she were incarcerated in an adult prison, along with an increased risk of suicide.  

(TH Vol. IV 973-874). 

Dr. Don Dutton was also called by the State as an expert.  Dutton opined that Diaz 

should not be dealt with in the juvenile system.  Dutton refused to acknowledge Diaz was 

a sexual abuse victim.  (TH Vol. V 979-985).  Dutton formed his opinion initially by 

relying on the police reports and his interview with Diaz.  (TH Vol. V 967-999). He 

wrongfully believed that Diaz had lied about Salgado cutting her own wrists. (TH Vol. V 

975).  He discounted any claim of physical abuse of Diaz and only partially recanted after 

Salgado testified he physically abused Diaz.  He had not even interviewed Salgado at the 

time he initially formed his opinion.  (TH Vol. V 939).  He later interviewed Salgado but 

did nothing to verify Salgado’s statements, despite Salgado having all the traits of a 

sociopath.  (TH Vol. V 970-997).  He believed that Diaz and Salgado were in a mutually 
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combative relationship, even though Diaz was a child and Salglado was an adult.  He 

admitted his theory of mutual combatants was based on the relationship of two adults, 

however. (TH Vol. V 971-974). 

Following a transfer hearing Diaz was transferred to adult court. (JR 1366, R 1). 

Diaz then moved the Court for a new trial under SDCL § 15-6-59(b) as the State, 

after the transfer hearing, disclosed Dutton had been accused of sexually harassing a 

student of his, prior to the transfer hearing. (JR 1379, App 38).  The motion for a new 

trial on the transfer issue was denied.  (R 516; App 39, 42). 

A jury trial commenced on December 29, 2014, and concluded on January 15, 

2015.   

The evidence presented to the Jury was that Diaz and Salgado had relocated to 

South Dakota and residing with Steffani Molina.  (JT Vol. V 730-731).  On November 

10, 2009, Diaz called Guevara and asked for a ride to Walmart.  Guevara picked up Diaz 

and Salgado from the Molina residence and drove to Walmart where they purchased 

lighter fluid.  (JT Vol. V 725, 733).  Upon leaving Walmart, Guevara drove Diaz and 

Salgado to rural Hanson County to a place they referred to as the “haunt house”.  (JT Vol. 

V 729, 735).  It was while parked near the haunt house when Guevara was attacked and 

eventually killed.  Once the attack ended, Guevara was placed in the truck of her vehicle 

which Salgado then drove into a grove of trees. (JT Vol. V 759).  The lighter fluid was 

purchased at Walmart was poured in and on the vehicle which was then started on fire.  

(JT Vol. V 758).  Salgado and Diaz left on foot and returned to the Molina residence. (JT 

Vol. V 766-767). 
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Salgado testified at the juvenile hearing on the motion to transfer Diaz to adult 

court.  (TH Vol. II 236-433, Vol. III 439-560).  He also testified at the jury trial in the 

adult proceedings. (JT Vol. V, p 680-800).  His testimony at the jury trial was remarkably 

different than his testimony at the transfer hearing; Salgado’s initial version of the 

offense, in which he placed all blame on Diaz, was relied on by Dutton and Hansen in 

their opinions that Diaz should be transferred to adult court, which was not what he 

testified to at trial.   

Salgado testified at trial that he “murdered Jasmine Guevara”.  (JT Vol. V 681) 

that Diaz had nothing to do with it.”   (JT Vol. V 688).  He testified that, despite 

testifying at the juvenile transfer hearing otherwise, Diaz did not tell him she had a plan 

to kill Guevara.  (JT Vol. V 714-715).  He also testified there was never a plan to kill 

Guevara as it was just his idea.  (JT Vol. V 716, 726).   Salgado went on to testify that 

Diaz didn’t want to do any of this [referring to the murder], that he wanted to stab 

Guevara and that he told her to [stab Guevara].  (JT Vol. V 720).  She never did anything.  

(JT Vol. V 723).  He did indicated Diaz called Guevara to have her take them to Walmart 

but at the time she didn’t have any knowledge of his intent to kill Guevara.  (JT Vol. V 

731, 733). Salgado testified that after the murder of Guevara, Diaz was extremely 

frightened and that she didn’t want to leave the car.  (JT Vol. V 765).   He told her he 

would killer her too if she did.  Id.  Salgado testified he threatened to kill Diaz on the 

night of the murder.  (JT Vol. V 766).   

Salgado was an uncooperative witness during his testimony at trial and was 

ultimately declared unavailable due to his refusal to answer questions.  ((JT Vol. V 789).  
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Thereafter, the parties read a number of excerpts from his testimony at the juvenile 

transfer hearing into the record.  (JT Vol. V 790-800).   

At trial, two experts testified that Diaz was a victim of physical and sexual abuse 

by Salgado.   Dr. Bean diagnosed Diaz as being physically abused as a child (JT. Vol. 

and sexually abused as a child.  (JT. Vol. VIII 1193, 1199-1204).  Dr. Craig Rypma, a 

clinical and forensic psychologist, testified as a child abuse expert witness on behalf of 

Diaz (JT Vol. VIII 1264-1314).  His diagnoses of Diaz included adjustment disorder with 

disturbance of conduct and emotion as she there was a “notable change in her behavior” 

subsequent to beginning her relationship with Salgado.  JT Vol. VIII 1275-1276).  He 

also diagnosed her as a victim of physical and sexual abuse as a child.  (JT Vol. VIII 

1277).  Rympa testified as to the characteristics and symptoms of a battered woman 

which include: fear on the part of the victim; inability to place blame for the battering on 

their batterer; self-blame in that it the violence is as a result of their own behavior; and 

that violence is omnipresent.   (JT Vol. VIII 1278-1280).  He also testified to the concept 

of the “cycle of abuse” which is characterized by instances and repeated instances of 

domestic assault.  (JT Vol. VIII 1281-1282).  Battered women are typically individuals 

who are isolated emotionally and are dependent on their batterer and cut off from their 

family support network.  (JT Vol. VIII 1282-1283).  These individuals will stay in these 

abusive relationships due to fear of violent consequences to either themselves or their 

family members in the event they try to end the relationship and because they have no 

way of supporting themselves.  (JT Vol. VIII 1283).   

Rypma testified that, following his examinations and evaluations of Diaz, he 

found characteristics that fit all of these characteristics of a battered woman.  (JT Vol. 
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VIII 1283-1286).   He also noted the elements of the cycle of abuse were present in the 

relationship between Diaz and Salgado.  (JT Vol. VIII 1286-1287). 

Richard Valdemar testified as an expert with specialized knowledge of gangs and 

gang activities.  (JT Vol. VIII 1239).  Salgado was clearly a member of the Sureńo 13 

gang which is an affiliate of the Mexican Mafia.  (JT Vol. VIII 1245, 1252).  In the 

Hispanic gang community, females are subservient to males and it is a very macho 

culture.  (JT. Vol VIII 1246).  It is not uncommon for a female or a minor to take the 

blame for something that a gang member does because by doing so they may prevent a 

gang member from being confined or prosecuted.  (JT Vol. VIII 1247).  It is also 

common for a gang member to place blame on a minor as a minor would typically be 

subject to lesser penalties.  Id.  The Hispanic gang culture are a “knife culture” as they 

commonly use knives when attacking people.  (JT Vol. VIII 1248).  Furthermore, 

Valdemar testified that the method used to try to cover up the murder of Guevara by 

burning the car and disposing of evidence indicated the crime was committed by a person 

of criminal sophistication.  (JT Vol. VIII 1249).   

At the conclusion of the jury trial, the jury returned its verdict of guilty.  As 

previously set out, Dr. Bean opined that Diaz’s mental maturity is much less that one 

would expect from a 15 year old.  Diaz had no criminal record and her only involvement 

in the court system prior to this was as a result of a CHINS proceeding in Indiana because 

of Salgado’s sexual abuse of her.  She had already been incarcerated for five years at the 

time of trial (25% of her life).  At sentencing, Sarah Drennan of Reclaiming Youth 

International, who had been familiar with Diaz since she was initially incarcerated, 

testified that Diaz had matured, was remorseful, had changed in the way she had made 
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decisions, that she had grown academically, that she had mentored other youths, and had 

cut her hair three times for Locks of Love.  Bill Webb, the primary GED instructor in 

Minnehaha County, described Diaz as “a remarkable student” who had obtained her GED 

while incarcerated.  Jeffrey LeMair, a case worker at the Minnehaha County Juvenile 

Detention Center, who had also overseen Diaz’s development over the three years that 

she was incarcerated there, maintained he was confident of her rehabilitation.  

At the time of the offense, Diaz was 15 years old and had no prior criminal 

record.  Her life expectancy at age 15 was 68.7 years (JR Diaz Exhibit U).  At 

sentencing, she was 20 years old and had been incarcerated since her arrest.  Her life 

expectancy at sentencing was 63.7 years.   On March 27, 2015, Diaz was sentenced to 

serve eighty years in the South Dakota Women’s prison for murder, with a concurrent 

sentence of fifty years in the South Dakota Women’s prison for aggravated kidnapping.   

ARGUMENTS 

1. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Ordering Diaz be Tried in 

Adult Court. 

 The trial court ruled that this matter should be transferred from juvenile to adult 

court. 

 This is not a case where there was a rebuttable presumption this matter should be 

tried in adult court (see State v. Krebs, 2006 SD 43.) Since Diaz was 15 at the time of the 

alleged offense, this matter was commenced in juvenile court.  The State filed a petition 

to have the matter transferred to adult court pursuant to SDCL §26-11-4.  This Court has 

stated that a juvenile transfer hearing, "is a ' "critically important" action determining 

vitally important statutory rights of the juvenile[.]' "In re L.V.A., 248 N.W.2d 864, 867 
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(S.D.1977). 

 SDCL §26-11-4 provides, in pertinent part: 

[T]he circuit court may, in its discretion, in any case of a delinquent child, 

after transfer hearing, permit such child to be proceeded against in 

accordance with the laws that may be in force in this state governing the 

commission of crimes, petty offenses or violation of municipal ordinances.  

In such cases the petition filed under chapter 26-8 shall be dismissed.  The 

hearing shall be conducted as provided by this section. 

 

At the transfer hearing, the court shall consider only whether it would be 

contrary to the best interest of the child or of the public to retain 

jurisdiction over the child. 

 

The following factors may be considered by the court in determining 

whether a child should be transferred:   

 

(1) The seriousness of the alleged offense to the community and 

whether protection of the community requires waiver;   

 

(2) Whether the alleged offense was committed in an aggressive, 

violent, premeditated or willful manner;   

 

(3) Whether the alleged offense was against persons or property 

with greater weight being given to offenses against persons;   

 

(4) The prosecutive merit of the complaint.  The state shall not be 

required to establish probable cause to show prosecutive merit;   

 

(5) The desirability of trial and disposition of the entire offense in 

one proceeding when the child's associates in the alleged offense 

are adults;   

 

(6) The record and previous history of the juvenile;   

 

(7) The prospect for adequate protection of the public and the 

likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation of the juvenile, if he is 

found to have committed the alleged offense, by the use of 

procedures, services and facilities currently available to the 

juvenile court. 

 

SDCL §26-11-4.   

 Neither the interests of the child nor the interests of the State are controlling 
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considerations.  State v. Jensen, 1998 S.D. 52, ¶ 21, and the trial court is not required to 

consider both of these interests. Id.  “[T]here must be substantial evidence in the record to 

support the juvenile court’s finding that it would be contrary to the best interests of the 

child OR of the public to retain jurisdiction over the child.”  State v. Harris, 494 N.W.2d 

691, 624 (SD 1993).  These factors are not intended to create a rigid or cumbersome 

procedure to be followed by the trial court in all cases,” they serve as guidance.  Jensen, 

supra, at ¶ 22. 

 Therefore, the decision to transfer is within the discretion of the court.  See State 

v. Rios, 499 N.W.2d 906, 907 (S.D.1993) (citing Harris, 494 N.W.2d at 624) ("[I]t is 

within the discretion of the trial court to determine whether to transfer juvenile 

proceedings to adult court.").  "An abuse of discretion 'refers to a discretion exercised to 

an end or purpose not justified by and clearly against, reason and evidence.' "Flying 

Horse, 455 N.W.2d at 608 (quoting State v. Bartlett, 411 N.W.2d 411, 413 (S.D.1987)).  

 Diaz was barely 15 years old at the time of the alleged offense.  She was a happy, 

joyful little girl when residing in Mexico, and in the US prior to becoming involved with 

Salgado.  She was doing well in school (TH Vol IV 661-662; 723; 747; Defendant’s 

Exhibit E1). Diaz was not a member of a gang (TH Vol III 491-493). 

 Salgado was 19 when he met Diaz through her brothers.  (TH Vol II 242; Vol IV 

662-663). Diaz was 13 when she met Salgado. (TH Vol IV 722; 849). Salgado started a 

romantic relationship with Diaz shortly after they met. (TH Vol II 242;Vol IV 850). Diaz 

was a 13 year old virgin at the time Salgado started having sexual intercourse with her.  

(TH Vol II 248-249;Vol III 510; 515-516).  Salgado was verbally, physically and 

sexually abusive to Diaz during their relationship. Salgado admitted to being physically 
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abusive to Diaz on numerous occasions.  (TH Vol II 256). Salgado would provide Diaz 

with alcohol, marijuana and cocaine. After the relationship started Diaz began skipping 

school to be with Salgado during which times they would consume alcohol and 

marijuana. (TH Vol II 298; Vol III 514; Vol IV 665-666, Defendant’s Exhibit E1). In 

January 2009, at the age of 14, Diaz learned she was pregnant with Salgado’s baby. (TH 

Vol II 250; Vol III 518; Vol IV 668-669; Defendant’s Exhibit Z). Diaz’s attendance at 

school and her grades began to decline when she became pregnant and her behavior 

became more difficult. (TH Vol IV 752-768). 

 Following the discovery of Diaz’s pregnancy, Indiana Child Services became 

involved through a CHINS action and informed Salgado he was not to have contact with 

Diaz.  Salgado disregarded these instructions and continued to see Diaz.  (TH Vol II 267-

268; Vol IV 673). On one occasion, after it was discovered that Diaz was pregnant, and 

during a time when Salgado was verbally and physically abusing her, Diaz indicated that 

she wanted to die and that she wanted to kill herself.  (TH Vol III 528-529).  Salgado then 

encouraged Diaz to commit suicide and accompanied her home to watch her attempt 

suicide. (TH Vol III 528-529).  When Diaz indicated she could not go through with 

harming herself, Salgado cut her wrist deeply with a razor blade and left her to die. (TH 

Vol III 529-530).   Diaz was committed to a mental health hospital as a result of the 

incident.  (TH Vol II 265).  Diaz gave birth to a baby girl on July 8, 2009, when she was 

14.  (TH Vol II 279; Vol III 497; Vol IV 674-675; JR Exhibit Y). 

 Diaz and Salgado traveled to South Dakota, where Diaz was completely 

dependent on Salgado as she had no money, no papers to get a job, and no way to get 

home.  (TH Vol III 538-540; Vol IV 741).  
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 Diaz had no prior experience in the criminal system.  She had only been involved 

in CHINS actions in Indiana as a result of Salgado’s attentions. 

 The trial court did weigh the factors listed in SDCL §26-11-4.  According to the 

various mental professionals evaluating Diaz, she presented only a “conduct disorder” 

diagnosis, which is not uncommon for juveniles.  Both Reclaiming Youth International 

(RYI) (who had spent the most time evaluating and interviewing Diaz) and Dr. Bean 

testified that Diaz could be rehabilitated within the juvenile justice system.  Although the 

South Dakota Women’s prison does not have separate areas to house juveniles apart from 

adults, and the South Dakota Department of Corrections express function is to provide 

public safety while serving youth that are committed to the DOC, the trial court found 

that Diaz would receive appropriate services in either juvenile facilities or in SDWP.  (JR 

1298). 

 The trial court found transfer of Diaz’s case to adult court was warranted, 

however, its finding was based largely on three interrelated premises, all of which proved 

fallacious.  First, the trial court relied somewhat on the testimony of Salgado (Dr. Dutton 

and Dr. Hansen, who testified for the state, also relied on Salgado’s statements to law 

enforcement and his testimony at the transfer hearing).  As noted elsewhere in this brief, 

Salgado then testified at trial that Diaz had no part in the offense.  The trial court relied 

on Dutton’s testimony and conclusions
1
, and Dr. Hansen relied on Dutton’s opinions, in 

part, in reaching his conclusions.  After the transfer hearing, the State disclosed to the 

                                                 
1
The trial court relied, remarkably, in part, on Dr. Dutton’s assertion that Diaz had 

suffered no trauma from her sexual abuse, because her statutory rape was consensual, and 

not forcible rape, which Diaz argues is in contravention to South Dakota law. 
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defense that Dr. Dutton had been found to have engaged in sexual harassment himself,
2
 a 

factor which not only could have influenced the trial court but also the opinion of 

Hansen. Because he was discredited, Dr. Dutton did not further testify at the jury trial.  

Certainly, Salgado’s changed testimony could have affected not only the opinions of 

Dutton but also Hansen.  The trial court discounted the expert testimony of Dr. Bean and 

RYI, and relied on the opinions of Dutton and Hansen.
3
 This is important because 

Hansen’s initial opinion was that Diaz’s needs would be adequately served in juvenile 

court.  However, after reviewing Salgado’s statement to law enforcement and Dutton’s 

report, Hansen changed his opinion. Because Hansen changed his opinion after reviewing 

Salgado’s statements (which changed) and Dutton’s report (then discredited), the trial 

court’s decision should be further reviewed. 

 Further, the trial court based its decision, in part, upon a finding that if Diaz were 

convicted of murder, she would receive a mandatory life sentence.  That, as this Court is 

aware, is not now the law of the land. Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012).  Based 

on all of the foregoing, it is clear the trial court abused its discretion in transferring this 

matter to adult court, and this Court should remand this matter to juvenile court for 

further consideration. 

2. Trial court abused its discretion in denying a new hearing on the 

transfer of Diaz to adult Court despite newly discovered evidence following the 

hearing regarding the State’s expert witness Dr. Donald Dutton. 

                                                 
2
The defense does not imply the State had this information prior to the transfer hearing, 

although the harassment finding occurred prior to the transfer hearing. 

3
It should be noted that, although Diaz was subject to intensive psychological testing, 

neither Hansen nor Dutton conducted the same kind of testing to verify the mental status 

of Salgado, and whether he was suffering from any mental delusion. 
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Following the entry of the Order transferring the case to adult court, the State 

informed defense counsel that Dutton, the State’s expert, which the court relied heavily 

upon in forming its decision to transfer Diaz to adult court, had been found to have 

sexually harassed a student of his.  As a result, Diaz moved the Court to vacate the order 

transferring Diaz to adult court pursuant to SDCL §15-6-59(b) on the grounds of surprise 

and newly discovered evidence. (JR 1379, App 38). 

The newly discovered evidence was in the form of a 1999 decision of the British 

Columbia Human Rights Tribunal which found that Dutton, while a professor at the 

University of British Columbia, sexually harassed a female student.  (See App 39).  

Dutton testified as to the male-female relationships and the nature of the sexual/dominant 

relationship between Diaz and Salgado.  (TH Vol V 949-950)   More specifically, he 

testified that he found no evidence Diaz was either traumatized or controlled by Salgado 

at the time of the murder which led the Court to find that Diaz’ involvement in the 

murder was willful and not coerced. (TH Vol V 496, 950-954, 966).  Dutton also 

criticized the report of the defense expert, RYI, by testifying their opinion was based on 

the stereotype that abusive relationships are primarily toward the female which he 

testified had been proven as untrue.  (TH Vol 960-966).  He also testified he could not 

opine that Diaz was sexually abused by Salgado despite her being 14 when 19 year old 

Salgado impregnated her.  (TH Vol V 979, 985).    

The test is whether “there is a reasonable probability that the newly discovered 

evidence would probably produce a different result at a new trial.” Bridgewater Quality 

Meats, LLC v. Heim, 2007 SD 233 (Citing State v. Steele, 510 N.W.2d 661, 664 

(S.D.1994)   Diaz contends the Court’s denial of a new trial upon finding that Dutton’s 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994022535&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia63efe04d19511dbafc6849dc347959a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_664&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.RelatedInfo)#co_pp_sp_595_664
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1994022535&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia63efe04d19511dbafc6849dc347959a&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_664&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.RelatedInfo)#co_pp_sp_595_664
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testimony was credible despite his unbelievable testimony and the bias evidenced by 

newly discovered evidence clearly supports a finding the Court abused its discretion 

warranting a new hearing on the transfer issue. 

3. The trial court held, pursuant to this Court’s previous decision, that 

the statements made by Diaz to law enforcement were admissible.  

 This Court, in State of SD v. Maricela Nicolasa Diaz, 2014 SD 27, held the 

statements of Diaz to law enforcement were admissible in evidence at trial. Diaz renewed 

her objection to the introduction of that evidence at trial. Now, Diaz asks the court to 

reconsider its decision reached in that case, on three grounds.  In Miller v. Alabama, 132 

S.Ct. 2455 (2012), the United States Supreme Court ruled that mandatory life sentences 

without parole for juveniles constituted cruel and unusual punishment. In Montgomery v. 

Louisiana, S.Ct. Docket No. 14-280, decided on January 25, 2016, the US Supreme Court 

reiterated that a mandatory sentence of life without parole for juveniles is 

unconstitutional and applied that doctrine retroactively to juveniles sentenced prior to the 

holding in Miller v. Alabama. Although the decision in Montgomery, supra, does not 

directly affect this Court’s prior ruling, it does illustrate the United States Supreme 

Court’s commitment to the principle that juveniles are different than adults, and Diaz 

asks this Court to reconsider its previous ruling in light of that continuing concern over 

the rights of juveniles in criminal court.  Secondly, the suppression of Diaz’s statements 

to law enforcement was further highlighted in importance because Salgado, the other 

participant charged in this crime, testified it was all his idea, and that Diaz didn’t do 

anything, contrary to his prior statements to law enforcement and prior testimony. 

(“There was never a plan. It was just me.” (JT Vol V 716). “She didn’t want to do any of 
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this…I told her to.” (JT Vol V 720). “She never did anything.”  (JT Vol V 723) (see JT 

Vol V 698 et. seq.)).  Finally, an additional factor not presented to this Court in its 

previous consideration of the facts, which emerged at the jury trial, was that, when 

questioning Diaz, law enforcement placed a can of lighter fluid on the table in front of 

her (the victim was placed in the trunk of the car and the car was lit on fire with lighter 

fluid), an abominable practice with a 15 year old defendant, clearly designed to 

intimidate her.  (JT Vol VI 850).  The purpose of Miranda warnings is to “safeguard the 

privilege against self-incrimination during incommunicado interrogation of individuals in 

a police-dominated atmosphere.”  This Court has stated “these concerns are only 

heightened when juveniles are interrogated.”  State v. Horse, 2002 S.D. 47, ¶ 12.  

Certainly, the nature of a police-dominated atmosphere was overwhelming to this 15 year 

old when a can of lighter fluid was placed before her during her interrogation. Our Court 

has directed trial courts, in situations in which counsel was not present (as in this case), 

when an admission was obtained, to take great care to assure the juvenile’s confession 

was voluntary “in the sense not only that it was not coerced or suggested, but also that it 

was not the product of ignorance of rights or of adolescent fantasy, fright, or despair.”  

State v. Caffrey, 332 N.W.2d 269, 272 (S.D. 1983) (quoting Re Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 

(1967)).  How could this 15 year old not be frightened when a can of lighter fluid is 

placed in front of her by law enforcement?  Diaz asks this Court to reconsider its prior 

decision. 

4. Trial Court failed to adequately instruct the jury with a full and 

correct statement of the law applicable to the effects of physical and sexual abuse on 

a juvenile’s perception of imminent fear.  
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This case deals with a juvenile defendant who was physically and sexually abused 

by an adult.1  Appellant’s asserted the affirmative defense of duress of a minor, however, 

argue that the “reasonable person” standard as set out in the duress instruction did not 

offer an explanation of the heightened sense of imminent danger to be felt by an abused 

minor.  Therefore, the Court failed to instruct the jury on Appellant’s defense theory.   

  While trial courts have broad discretion in instructing the jury, it is the court's 

duty to instruct the jury on the law applicable to the case. State v. Walton, 600 N.W.2d 

524, 528 (S.D. 1999).  Furthermore, upon proper request, defendants are entitled to 

instructions on their defense theories if evidence supports them. Id.  Jury instructions are 

adequate when, “considered as a whole, they give the full and correct statement of the 

law applicable to the case.”  Id. quoting State v. Rhines, 1996 SD 55, ¶ 111.  

The Court instructed the jury on duress which states: 

A person may not be convicted of a crime based upon conduct engaged in 

because of the use or threatened use of unlawful force upon the defendant 

or upon another person which force or threatened use thereof a reasonable 

person in his situation would have been unable to resist (Emphasis 

Added). 

 

Instruction 44 (App 43); SD Crim Pattern Jury Instruction 2-3-1.  The Court also 

instructed the jury in regard to the Battered Woman’s Syndrome in Jury Instruction 45, 

which states:   

If you find that the defendant was suffering from Battered Woman 

Syndrome, you may then use that evidence in evaluating any claim that 

the defendant feared imminent serious bodily injury if she did not carry 

out the criminal acts for which she is charged. (App  43). 

 

However, the trial court erred when it failed to instruct the jury as to the heightened sense 

of imminent danger felt by children who suffer from physical and mental abuse, thereby, 

                                                 
1 Dr. Bean testified that she suffered from physical abuse as a child (JT. Vol. VIII, p 1193, 1199-1203 and 

from sexual abuse as a child (1193, 1203-1204). 
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denying her of being instructed on her defense.   

The defense that a juvenile would suffer from a heightened sense of imminent 

fear of her abuser is supported by the shift in the nation's moral tolerance when it comes 

to dealing with juvenile offenders in adult court. See State v. Springer, 2014 S.D. 80, ¶ 6; 

(Discussing Roper v. Simmons, 125 S.Ct. 1183 (2005); Graham v. Florida, 130 S.Ct. 

2011(2010); and Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012)).   Juveniles are more 

vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures than adults because of their “lack 

of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility” Id. at ¶ 9.     

As Appellant was just 15 at the time of the offense, and was victim of physical 

and sexual abuse, she requested instructions of a heightened sense of imminent danger.  

Defendant’s Proposed Instructions 99 & 100 (which were rejected by the Court as 

Defendant’s proposed Instructions B & A, respectively), state as follows: 

Proposed Instruction 99 (rejected B) 

 

 You may consider whether or not the defendant was battered or 

abused by Alexander Salgado.  If you decide that the defendant was 

battered or abused by Alexander Salgado, you may consider that in 

determining reasonableness of the defendant’s perception of the 

immediacy of the harm in light of the defendant’s experience of abuse. 

 

Proposed Instruction 100 (rejected A) 

 

 The imminent danger element may be satisfied when a child 

believes she is in imminent danger of death or serious bodily harm even 

though her abuser is not physically abusing her at the time. This is because 

an abused child can experience a heightened sense of imminent danger 

arising from perpetual physical and mental abuse. 

 

(R 1847, 2536; App 45, 48, 49).   

 

To reverse a trial court's refusal to give an instruction, the defendant must be 

unfairly prejudiced by the refusal and show the jury probably would have returned a 
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different verdict if requested instructions had been given. Walton, 600 N.W.2d 524, 528.    

The fundamental differences in ability to perceive danger between an adult and a 

child is not clear to the general public as it is only recently gaining acceptance in the 

highest courts in our country. See Springer, 2014 S.D. 80.  Without a specific instruction 

bringing attention to the fact that a child perceives danger is a different light than an 

adult, the defendant was unfairly prejudiced in her inability argue that the law supports a 

different standard for a child than for an adult.  Had the jury been instructed as requested 

the jury would likely have given more consideration to the defense of duress and would 

probably have returned a not-guilty verdict. 

5. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Sentencing Diaz to 80 Years, 

with No Time Suspended. 

 The trial court imposed a sentence of 80 years, with no time suspended, with a 

concurrent sentence of 50 years. (R 2613, App 62). 

 Diaz argues the trial court abused its discretion in sentencing her to 80 years, with 

no time suspended, along with a concurrent sentence of 50 years.   

 Generally, a sentence within the statutory maximum is reviewed by this Court 

under the abuse of discretion standard. State v. McKinney, 2005 SD 73, ¶ 10, (McKinney 

I). "We give ‘great deference to sentencing decisions made by trial courts.'" State v. 

Garber, 2004 SD 2, 13, 674 N.W.2d 320, 323; State v. Blair, 2006 SD 75. 

 In this case, however, as previously set forth, In this case, Diaz was just 15 at the 

time of the murder.  She was the mother of an infant who was born just four months 

earlier when Diaz was 14.  She was a runaway, accompanied by Salagado, who was the 

subject of a protection order to keep him away from Diaz.  Diaz was a victim of physical 
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and sexual abuse by Salgado, who was the father of her child, an adult, and gang 

member.  According to expert psychiatric testimony, she was much less mature than an 

average 15 year old.  She had already been incarcerated for five years.  Defense witnesses 

at sentencing testified she had matured, she was remorseful and she had grown 

academically as she obtained her GED.  Jeff LeMair, a case worker at the Minnehaha 

County Juvenile Detention Center maintained he was confident of her rehabilitation. 

 This Court has stated that “We encourage, and have often required, the 

consideration of the potential for rehabilitation. See State v. Hinger, 1999 SD 91, ¶¶ 24-

25; Bult v. Leapley, 507 N.W.2d 325 (S.D.1993); McKinney, 2005 SD 73. 

 Nonetheless, the trial court stated “So, there’s room for healing in your life, for 

growth, for even finding the strength to move forward and make a productive life.  You 

are a very young person.  But that healing and that growth, that reformation, for the most 

part, is going to need to take place behind the walls of an institution.”  The court then 

sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison.  What prospect is there for this 15 year old (now 20) 

defendant to rehabilitate herself with such a sentence?  What prospect for life, for 

employment, for paying restitution will be available to her?  This is a defendant who 

expressed remorse, who matured, who improved herself while incarcerated, who people 

believed had changed, and the sentence of the court gives no hope to her to continue that 

process outside of a penal facility.  The trial court abused its discretion in handing down 

such a sentence. 

6. The Sentenced Imposed on Diaz Violated the Principle of 

Proportionality of Sentencing. 

 The trial court imposed a sentence of 80 years for first degree murder, and a 50 
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year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently, with no time suspended. (R 

2613, App 62). 

 Diaz argues her sentence is grossly disproportionate to the conduct for which she 

was convicted and, therefore, constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth 

Amendment to the United States Constitution. The Eighth Amendment, which was 

extended to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits the infliction of 

"cruel and unusual punishments[.]" U.S. Const. Amend. VIII. When the question 

presented is whether a challenged sentence is cruel and unusual in violation of the Eighth 

Amendment, the Court conducts a de novo review. See Cooper Indus., Inc. v. 

Leatherman Tool Grp., Inc.,  532 U.S. 424 (2001). 

 This court's standard of review for such challenges is as follows: "[To] assess a 

challenge to proportionality we first determine whether the sentence appears grossly 

disproportionate. To accomplish this, we consider the conduct involved, and any relevant 

past conduct, with utmost deference to the Legislature and the sentencing court." State v. 

Pugh, 2002 SD 16. If the sentence does not appear grossly disproportionate, no further 

review is necessary. Hinger, 1999 SD 91. If the sentence does appear grossly 

disproportionate, an intra- and inter-jurisdictional analysis shall be conducted. Id. We 

also consider "the gravity of the offense and the harshness of the penalty;" Solem v. Helm, 

463 U.S. 277 (1983); and other relevant factors, such as the effect this type of offense has 

on society. Hinger, 1999 SD 91, 16. 

 The circumstances of the offense are examined to determine the gravity of the 

offense.  However, in addition, in judging the gravity of an offense, a court may also 

consider certain past conduct of the defendant. Additionally, if the sentence is enhanced 
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because of the offender's recidivism, then the gravity of his past offenses also contributes 

to the gravity of the present offense. See Ewing v. California, 538 U.S. 11, 28, (2003). 

The reason for this is the State's interest is not merely punishing the offense of 

conviction, or the "triggering" offense: "It is in addition the interest in dealing in a 

harsher manner with those who by repeated criminal acts have shown that they are simply 

incapable of conforming to the norms of society as established by its criminal law." Id. at 

29. 

 In State v. Pasek, 2004 SD 132, Pasek had received a life sentence.  He 

challenged the proportionality of his sentence. The court noted his plan for rehabilitation 

was to figure out how to get out of prison, and he had escaped while in custody for a bank 

robbery, stole two cars, announced his intent to rob another bank, and then did.  He also 

conceded that he "got off on the rush" of committing crimes.  His criminal record 

reflected that that in 1997, at the age of 18, he was convicted of felony shoplifting. In 

1998, he violated probation and his sentence was reimposed. In 2002, he was convicted 

of seven offenses. Then, while in jail in Wyoming as a federal prisoner, he escaped and 

fled to Montana, where he robbed another bank. Pasek then escaped from jail in 

Montana, stole a vehicle, and committed the South Dakota offenses. Finally, there was 

evidence he considered an even more dangerous escape attempt before his South Dakota 

trial. This court held his life sentence was not disportionate. 

  Compare also State v. Chipps, 2016 SD 8, where the State filed a habitual 

information, and Chipps admitted to two prior felony convictions. This Court held his 

criminal history was relevant to an Eighth Amendment analysis of the sentence.  Criminal 

history is relevant to an Eighth Amendment analysis of this sentence, noting a state is 
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justified in punishing a recidivist more severely than it punishes a first offender. 

 "We have previously stated that in order to impose a sentence that is proportionate 

to the particulars of the offense and the offender, the circuit court must "acquire a 

thorough acquaintance with the character and history of the [person] before it." State v. 

Bonner, 1998 SD 30. The Hinger/Bonner factors are the appropriate factors for the circuit 

court to consider when determining sentencing, which include the defendant's "general 

moral character, mentality, habits, social environment, tendencies, age, aversion or 

inclination to commit crime, life, family, occupation, and previous criminal record." Id. 

Additionally, the trial court considers the rehabilitation prospects of the particular 

defendant.  Finally, the impact of the crime on the victim or victims, including "evidence 

relating to personal characteristics of the victim and the emotional impact of the crime," 

also may be examined and considered by the trial court. Rhines, 1996 SD 55; State v. 

Blair, 2006 SD 75. 

 If the penalty imposed appears to be grossly disproportionate to the gravity of the 

offense, then we will compare the sentence to those "imposed on other criminals in the 

same jurisdiction" as well as those "imposed for commission of the same crime in other 

jurisdictions." Helm, 463 U.S. at 291. 

 In this case, Diaz was just fifteen at the time of the murder.  She was the mother 

of an infant born just four months earlier when Diaz was 14.  She was a runaway, 

accompanied by Salagado, who was the subject of a protection order to keep him away 

from Diaz.  Diaz was a victim of physical and sexual abuse by Salgado, who was the 

father of her child, an adult, and gang member. 

 Dr. Bean opined that Diaz's mental maturity is much less that one would expect 
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from a 15 year old in our society.  Diaz had no criminal record and her only involvement 

in the court system prior to this was as a result of a CHINS proceeding in Indiana because 

of Salgado's sexual abuse of her.  She had already been incarcerated for five years at the 

time of trial (25% of her life).  At sentencing, Sarah Drennan of RYI, who had been 

familiar with Diaz since she was initially incarcerated, testified Diaz had matured, was 

remorseful, had changed in the way she had made decisions, she had grown 

academically, she had mentored other youths, and had cut her hair three times for Locks 

of Love.  Bill Webb, the primary GED instructor in Minnehaha County, described Diaz 

as "a remarkable student" who had obtained her GED while incarcerated.  Jeffrey 

LeMair, a case worker at the Minnehaha County Juvenile Detention Center, who had also 

overseen Diaz's development over the three years she was incarcerated there, maintained 

that he was confident of her rehabilitation. 

 The defense provided to the trial court a sentencing memorandum which 

contained numerous examples of sentences for adults convicted of either murder, 

vehicular homicide, or manslaughter.  (App 50).  Only one of the defendants received a 

comparable sentence to Diaz of 80 years, however, 40 years were suspended.  The other 

sentences ranged from 51 months incarceration to 30 years incarceration (all suspended) 

to 60 years.  None of the defendants were as young as Diaz, and, presumably, none could 

have had a cleaner criminal history than Diaz, who had none at all.  It is also noteworthy 

that two teenagers that were sentenced (as contained in the Defendant's sentencing 

memorandum), both of whom were older than Diaz, received sentences of 48 years (21 

suspended) and 25 years (15 suspended; sentence to run concurrently with a 10 year 
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sentence for aggravated assault concerning a victim other than the person killed).2  In 

spite of this information, and in spite of Diaz's age at the time of the offense, her lack of 

criminal record, and the obvious overbearing, negative influence by Salgado, the court 

disregarded all of that information, and stated "the public needs to know that a 

horrendous crime needs to be met with a very serious punishment, and imposed the 80 

year sentence (and fifty year concurrent sentence), with no amount of that time 

suspended. It was obvious from that statement that the court completely based the 

sentence handed down on the nature of the offense, and did not give any weight to the 

defendant's age, circumstances, family background or prospect for rehabilitation. 

 Certainly an 80 year sentence given to a 15 year old girl with no prior criminal 

history is grossly disproportionate on its face; further, that with an examination of the 

lack of criminal history, the poor family life of the defendant, the status of the defendant 

as a physical and sexual abuse victim (which resulted in her involvement in this crime) 

and the prospect for her rehabilitation, the trial court did in fact impose a disproportionate 

sentence which violates the 8th Amendment's prohibition against cruel and unusual 

punishment, and for that reason, this matter should be remanded for a further sentencing 

hearing. 

7. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY SENTENCING DIAZ TO A DE 

FACTO LIFE SENTENCE. 

 The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison, without any suspended 

                                                 

2 On January 5, 2016, Michael R. Martinez received a 20 year sentence for committing the death of his 

girlfriend (manslaughter), who he had stabbed 14 times.  State of SD v. Martinez (Minnehaha County, Case 

No. 49CRI14-004251). 
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portion of the prison term (and a concurrent sentence of 50 years in prison). (R 2613). 

 Diaz argues that the 80 year prison sentence imposed by the court is a de facto life 

sentence and violates the spirit, if not the law, established by the United States Supreme 

Court in  Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d 825 (2010); 

Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2005); Miller v. 

Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), and Montgomery v. Louisiana, S.Ct. Docket No. 14-

280,  decided on January 25, 2016, and the Eighth Amendment to the United States, and 

is therefore an illegal sentence. 

 Diaz acknowledges that this Court addressed this issue in Springer, 2014 S.D. 80,.  

Diaz argues, that her case is different legally and factually from Springer, supra. 

 This Court, in Springer, correctly noted that “The United States Supreme Court 

has held that juveniles are categorically “less deserving of the most severe punishments.” 

Miller, supra,  (quoting Graham, 560 U.S. at 68, 130 S.Ct. at 2026). The United States 

Supreme Court does not view the Eighth Amendment “through a historical prism[,]”, but 

rather the Court interprets the Eighth Amendment through the “evolving standards of 

decency that mark the progress of a maturing society[,]” id. (quoting Estelle v. Gamble, 

429 U.S. 97, 102. ... Roper held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid the 

imposition of the death penalty on offenders under the age of 18 at the time of their 

crime. 543 U.S. at 568, 125 S.Ct. at 1194. Graham held that the Eighth and Fourteenth 

Amendments forbid the imposition of life imprisonment without parole on juveniles for 

nonhomicide crimes. 560 U.S. at 75, 130 S.Ct. at 2030. Miller merged the two cases and 

held that the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments forbid sentencing schemes that mandate 

life in prison without parole for juvenile offenders; see also State of South Dakota v. 
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Berget, 2013 S.D. 1, ¶ 90, ... Roper, Graham, and Miller evidence “a shift in the nation's 

moral tolerance” when it comes to sentencing juvenile offenders in adult court. Berget, 

2013 S.D. 1, ¶ 90.  While the United States Supreme Court did not altogether prohibit life 

sentences without parole in Miller, states may no longer impose mandatory life sentences 

on juvenile homicide offenders. ..... Courts around the country must now individually 

sentence juvenile offenders facing the harshest penalties and consider certain mitigating 

factors. ... Juvenile offenders warrant special consideration because “children have a lack 

of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of responsibility ..., are more vulnerable to 

negative influences and outside pressures ..., [and] a child's character is not as well 

formed as an adult's [.]” Id., quoting Roper, 543 U.S. at 569–70, 125 S.Ct. at 1183) 

(internal quotation marks omitted). The United States Supreme Court rested the Roper, 

Graham, and Miller decisions on science and social science, quoting neurological, 

psychological, and sociological studies pertaining to children, their culpability, and their 

decision-making processes.” Id.  This Court noted in 2013, the South Dakota Legislature 

passed legislation in an effort to comply with Roper, Graham, and Miller. 2013 S.D. 

Sess. Laws ch. 105, §§ 1–5. Specifically, the Legislature changed SDCL §22–6–1 to 

authorize, but not mandate, a life sentence without parole for a juvenile offender if he 

was convicted of a Class A or B felony. Id. The Legislature also amended SDCL §23A–

27–1 to allow a juvenile to “present any information in mitigation of punishment” at their 

sentencing hearings.  The factors the trial court should consider are: (1) the chronological 

age of the juvenile, (2) the juvenile's immaturity, impetuosity, irresponsibility, and 

recklessness, (3) family and home environment, (4) incompetency in dealing with law 

enforcement and the adult criminal justice system, (5) the circumstances of the crime, 
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and, most importantly, (6) the possibility for rehabilitation.(Springer, 2014 SD 80). 

 In spite of the young age of Diaz, her immaturity, her circumstances as a sexual 

abuse victim and physical abuse victim, the testimony at trial of Alexander Salgado that it 

was his idea and she didn’t have anything to do with it, and her excellent chances for 

rehabilitation, the trial court sentenced her to 80 years in prison.  

 In Springer, supra there was no evidence of Springer’s life expectancy.  However, 

Diaz introduced during these proceedings evidence that her remaining life expectancy at 

the age of 15 was 68.7 years (Diaz Exhibit U, Transfer Hearing).  At the time of 

sentencing, then, her remaining life expectancy would have been 63.7 years. The 

imposition of the 80 year prison sentence, then, constituted a de facto life sentence and is 

violative of the Eighth Amendment.   See People v. Caballero, 282 P.3d 291 (2012); 

State v. Ragland, 836 N.W.2d 107 (Iowa, 2013); Gridine v. State of Florida, No. SC12-

1223, (2015); Henry v. State of Florida, No. SC 12-578 (2015). 

 Graham requires that juvenile offenders have a “meaningful opportunity to obtain 

release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” 560 U.S. at 75, 130 S.Ct. at 

2030. The United States Supreme Court concluded in Graham, “A State need not 

guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide 

him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term.” 

560 U.S. at 82, 130 S.Ct. at 2034 (emphasis added). Thus, a meaningful opportunity is a 

realistic one. Id.   The opportunity afforded this young girl was not a meaningful one. 

 At the time that Springer was decided by this Court, it was not determined 

whether Roper, Graham, or Miller, applied retroactively.  However, that has now been 

determined that those decisions do apply retroactively, and those decisions reaffirm the 
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United States Supreme Court continuing commitment to the principle that young 

offenders can be saved and not just locked up for life.  Montgomery v. Louisiana, S.Ct. 

Docket No. 14-280, January 25, 2016.  The trial court imposed what amounts to a de 

facto life sentence on this young girl, which is violate of the spirit and letter of Roper, 

Graham, and Miller, supra, and this matter should be remanded to the trial court for a 

reconsideration of sentencing. 

CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, Appellant Maricela Diaz respectfully requests that this Court for the relief 

requested herein. 

Respectfully submitted this 22
nd

 day of February, 2016. 
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    Doug Dailey 

Chris A. Nipe 

      

Attorneys for Appellant  
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

References to the settled record as reflected by the Clerk’s Index will be 

designated (R) and the applicable page; references to the Pre-Sentence Report in 

30CRI11-000018 which is recorded at (R 2613) will be designated as PSR and the 

applicable page; references to the Reclaiming Youth International Juvenile Audit 

Report (amended) dated January 25, 20111 which is referenced as Defendant’s 

Exhibit D1 in the Clerk’s Index in Juv 09-05 and included as Attachment H to the 

PRS, will be to the designation (JAR) followed by the applicable page; and 

references to the sentencing hearing will be to the designation (SH) and the 

applicable page.  

STATEMENT OF ISSUE 

Counsel for amicus curiae the Consulate of Mexico submits this brief in 

support of a reduction of the sentence appellant Maricela Diaz received in this case. 

The district court sentenced appellant Maricela Diaz on March 27, 2015, to 

80 years in prison for aiding and abetting first-degree murder in the November 10, 

2009 killing of Jasmine Guevara. (R 2613).  The district court heard statements from 

defense witnesses and from the victim’s family, as well as arguments from the 

prosecution and defense counsel.  In explaining the rationale for the 80-year 

sentence, the court relied on Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012).  But the 

court, despite recognizing the Miller mandate to consider the juvenile offender’s 

family and home environment, indicated that that environment had no “significant 

impact” on the proper sentence for Maricela.  (SH 96).  Thus, the court failed to 
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acknowledge the poverty and dislocation experienced by appellant as a child brought 

by a single parent to the United States from Mexico at the age of eleven.   

The Consulate of Mexico believes that a proper sentence for Maricela must 

take into account the stress she experienced as an undocumented child immigrant 

brought to this country in poverty by a single parent only a few years before the 

crime – committed at the age of 14 – for which she has been sentenced.   

STATEMENT OF FACTS 

In a report prepared for the adult-certification hearing, the Reclaiming Youth 

Institute (RYI) presented a comprehensive assessment of appellant Diaz, based on 

interviews with appellant and family members, and a review of Fort Wayne, Indiana 

school and social-service records. (JAR 1-2).   The RYI report described appellant as 

an “undocumented Mexican girl” who was brought to the United States by her 

mother in 2006, when appellant was 11 years old.  (JAR 4). 

Before emigrating to America, appellant lived with her mother and father and 

other family members in the state of Guanajuato, Mexico.  (JAR).  For the 

presentence report, appellant wrote, “We were poor but happy.  Everything changed 

when I got to [the] USA.”  (PSR 5).   In 2011, appellant had not seen her father in 

five years, i.e., before she was brought to America.  (JAR 4).  She wrote for the 

presentence report, “I missed my father.  I missed not having my family together.”  

(PSR 6).  

At first, appellant did well in the Fort Wayne, Indiana schools; but she began 

a “downward spiral” in 2008, at the start of her abusive relationship with Alexander 
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Salgado, her co-defendant in this case and the father of her child.  (JAR 4-5). 

Salgado is six years older than Maricela.  (JAR. 4-5). 

In Fort Wayne, appellant lived in a deprived environment, with no gas or hot 

water in the home.  (JAR 5).  She was the subject of a Child in Need of Services 

(CHINS) adjudication in March 2009, after she had been hospitalized in January 

2009 for an apparent suicide attempt, and after she had been the victim of sexual 

misconduct with a minor committed by Salgado in February 2009.  (JAR 5).  

Appellant was then pregnant with Salgado’s child, and gave birth to a baby girl, 

Maria, on July 8, 2009, when she was fourteen years old.  (JAR 6). 

The RYI report recounts social-services findings that Salgado began having 

sex with appellant in April 2008, and described this as being “coerced” intercourse.  

(JAR 6). Appellant herself reported that Salgado physically, sexually, and verbally 

abused her.  (PSR 6-7). After Salgado was banished from his family home in 

September or October of 2009, he enlisted appellant to accompany him to South 

Dakota in October of that year.  (JAR 7).  The following month, on November 10, 

2009, Salgado and appellant met up with Jasmine Guevara at a Wal-Mart store, and 

Guevara was murdered shortly after. 

At sentencing, the district court heard statements from defense witnesses and 

from the victim’s family, as well as arguments from the prosecution and defense 

counsel.  The court rejected defense counsel’s plea for a sentence of 25 years, as well 

as the prosecutor’s request for either life imprisonment or a 100-year sentence, and 

sentenced appellant to 80 years.  (SH 77, 99; R 2613). 
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ARGUMENT 

The Mexican Consulate is grateful for the opportunity to speak on behalf of 

Maricela Diaz, a Mexican national, in this appeal and to challenge her 80-year 

sentence.  

“The protection of nationals . . . in foreign countries is arguably one of the 

foremost purposes of consular representatives.”  Victor M. Uribe, “Consuls at Work: 

Universal Instruments of Human Rights and Consular Protection in the Context of 

Criminal Justice,” 19 Hous. J. Int’l L. 375, 379 (1997).  Mexico has historically 

considered it a duty, not merely an option, to provide assistance to its nationals 

abroad, including those in detention.  Id. at 379-80. 

The Mexican Consulate would like to put the proportionality of Maricela’s 

80-year sentence in the context of her immigration from Mexico with her mother 

less than four years before the crime for which she has been sentenced.  That 

undocumented-immigrant experience fits squarely within the Miller v. Alabama 

family-and-home-environment factor that the district court acknowledged as 

applicable but then dismissed as not being a significant factor.   

The district court in explaining its rationale for sentencing appellant to 80 

years began by reciting the four considerations that govern sentencing:  (1) 

punishment, (2) deterrence, (3) restitution, and (4) rehabilitation.  (SH 90).  The 

court then acknowledged that in sentencing a juvenile it was required to consider the 

range of mitigating factors recognized in Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. Ct. 2455, 2468 

(2012): (1) chronological age and its characteristics; (2) family and home 
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environment; (3) the circumstances of the crime, including the juvenile’s culpability 

and any peer pressure; and (4) the possibility of rehabilitation.  (SH 91). 

The district court only briefly addressed the second Miller factor – the 

offender’s family and home environment, acknowledging that appellant had been 

brought to the U.S. by her mother, which forced her to “learn[] a new culture and 

[live] in poverty.”  (SH 95).  But the court then dismissed this factor, expressing 

doubt “that any of those facts of that growing up have a significant impact on this 

case.”  (SH 96).  Thus, the court minimized entirely the impact of Maricela’s status 

as an undocumented child whose home environment had been thoroughly disrupted 

by her mother’s transporting her from Mexico to the United States. 

Although immigrant families differ, Maricela’s impoverished family 

situation is not atypical: 

Immigration experiences vary depending on country of origin, type of 

migration, and individual motivations; however, the decision to migrate 

is often driven by financial necessity or dangerous political climates that 

pose a risk of exposure to robbery, violence, physical persecution and 

sexual assault.  Many challenges that immigrants face –financial 

distress, personal dissatisfaction, depression, social isolation, and 

stressful life events – are factors associated with child maltreatment. 

 

Megan Finno-Velasquez, “Child Maltreatment and Immigration Enforcement: 

Considerations for Child Welfare and Legal Systems Working with Immigrant 

Families,” 33 Child. Legal Rts. J. 37, 40 (2013) (emphasis added). 

Maricela arrived in the United States in January of 2006, brought here by 

her mother.  (JAR 4).  At the time of the January 2011 RYI report, she had not seen 

her father in five years, (JAR 4), or, in other words, since her emigration to the U.S.  

Sarah Drennan, the psychologist who worked on the RYI developmental audit of 
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Maricela, testified that “[s]he had been abused and experienced trauma even in the 

move from Mexico to the United States.”  (SH 12-13).
1
  Maricela’s “downward 

spiral” began in 2008, only two years after what she remembered as a happy family 

life in Guanajuato, Mexico ended and her fragmented family migrated to the U.S.  

See JAR at 4.  The family knew poverty in Mexico
2
, but in Fort Wayne they were 

without even gas or hot water when they came to the attention of social services.  

See JAR at 5. 

Amicus Mexican Consulate believes that Maricela’s immigration experience and its aftermath were the critical factors in her family and home environment, and therefore are essential to applying the second Miller v. Alabama mitigating factor. By disregarding Maricela’s family environment, the district court 

discounted entirely her immigration experience.  See SH at 96 (stating the court 

didn’t know “that any of those facts of that growing-up have a significant impact on 

this case”).  Disregarding appellant’s status as an undocumented child immigrant 

from an impoverished Mexican family also indirectly negated the third Miller v. 

Alabama mitigating factor – appellant’s relative culpability in the commission of the 

crime. 

Marcela’s impoverished home environment made her especially vulnerable to the domination and abuse inflicted by her older co-defendant, Alexander Salgado.  The court indicated that it believed Salgado abused Maricela, but blamed her for remaining in the relationship.  (SH  97).  Despite the background 

evidence that Salgado dominated appellant and forced her into sexual intercourse, 

the district court stated that it was “not so concerned” with apportioning fault 

between the two for Guevara’s murder.  (SH  92, 97).  But appellant’s impoverished 

and freshly uprooted family gave her no healthy alternative to Salgado’s domination.  

                                                 
1
 Maricela wrote to the presentence investigator, “The whole experience[] [of emigration] 

was scary and really dangerous.”  (PSR 5). 
2
 Maricela’s brother-in-law Jose Jesus Ramirez Alvarez wrote to the court: “After a year 

the economic crisis grew and we had the necessity [sic] to migrate to this country leaving 

the little things we had but leaving our hearts with our family.” Alvarez letter, at 2. 

Maricela followed with her mother the following year. 
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See JAR at 7-8.  And appellant’s culpability relative to Salgado’s cannot be judged 

without reference to the nature of their relationship. 

Mexican families exhibit a “traditional cultural value that emphasizes family obligation, unity, and connectedness.”  Gabriela Stein and Antonio Polo, “Parent-Child Cultural Value Gaps and Depressive Symptoms Among Mexican American Youth,” 23 J. Child Fam. Stud. 189, 190 (2014).  “[Y]outh are expected to 

obey and respect their  elders.”  Id. Mexican adolescents value family as much as 

their elders do.  Martica L. Bacallao and Paul R. Smokowski, “The Costs of Getting 

Ahead: Mexican Family Changes After Immigration,” 56 Family Relations 52, 62 

(2007). 

But Maricela’s family was uprooted by single-parent emigration.  

Adolescents in Mexican migrant families often complain of the loss of their ties to 

extended family members. Id. at 58.  Maricela lost daily contact with many family 

members, including her father, and was faced with a new culture in which her family 

was experiencing significant stress.   

A culturally sensitive view of Maricela’s family and home environment 

would have recognized that, through no fault of her own, Maricela had lost much of 

the traditional family support that would have helped her to resist the negative 

influence of Alexander Salgado.   

The district court only briefly mentioned the fourth Miller v. Alabama 

mitigating factor when it conceded Maricela’s potential for rehabilitation before 

sentencing her to 80 years.  (SH 98-99).
3
 The sentencing-hearing testimony and 

letters submitted to the court on Maricela’s behalf amply supported the court’s 

concession, and even established that she had already demonstrated significant 

                                                 
3
 The potential for rehabilitation is not only recognized as a mandatory consideration in 

Miller v. Alabama, but also in the American Convention on Human Rights.  See Amer. 

Convention on Human Rights, art. 5(6) (“punishment consisting of deprivation of liberty 

shall have as an essential aim the reform and social adaptation of the prisoners”). 



8 

 

rehabilitation while in juvenile detention and adult jail. (SH 14 - Sarah Drennan 

testimony describing Maricela’s positive development in safe environment), (SH 16  

-Drennan testimony about Maricela’s generosity and contributions while 

incarcerated), (SH 26 - Bill Webb testimony describing Maricela as a very good 

student in GED program).  Had the district court not ignored the impact of the family 

background from which Maricela came, including her emigration to a new culture, it 

would not have given so little apparent weight to the overwhelming evidence of her 

rehabilitative potential. 

Amicus is not arguing that a sentencing court must always consider a 

foreign national’s immigration experience in determining the appropriate sentence.  

But on the facts of this case, given how recently Maricela had been brought to 

America and how impoverished her family was in Fort Wayne, Indiana, Maricela’s 

“family and home environment” cannot be understood without reference to her 

traumatic emigration.  The district court’s sentencing rationale virtually removed 

Maricela’s Mexican background and emigration experience from her life story, 

producing a grossly distorted picture of the offender before the court, and, therefore, 

a grossly disproportionate sentence.
4
 

It is puzzling why the district court felt that Maricela’s “family and home 

environment” should have no “significant impact” on the appropriate sentence.  But 

if the court was counting Maricela’s undocumented-immigrant status against her, it 

                                                 
4
 See generally State v. Blair, 721 N.W.2d 55 (S.D. 2006) (applying standard for Eighth 

Amendment proportionality review); cf. State v. Thorsby, 757 N.W.2d 300, 302 (S.D. 

2008) (applying abuse of discretion standard to review of sentence within statutory 

limits). 
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erred in the face of ample case law, as she was no more responsible for that status 

than for her parents’ separation. 

Maricela’s status as an undocumented child immigrant should have no 

negative impact on her sentencing.  Children brought to the United States by 

undocumented-immigrant parents have little control over “[either] their parents’ 

conduct [or] their own status.”  Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 220, 102 S. Ct. 2382, 

2396 (1982); cf. United States v. Loaiza-Sanchez, 622 F.3d 939, 942 (8
th

 Cir. 2010) 

(holding that adult offenders’ illegal entries were voluntary acts and criminal 

misconduct, to be considered as part of their personal history and characteristics 

under the federal sentencing guidelines).  As the Supreme Court has recognized 

generally, “juveniles have less control, or less experience with control, over their 

own environment.”  Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569, 125 S. Ct. 1183, 1195 

(2005).  That is certainly true of juveniles like Maricela who are uprooted from an 

extended family and brought to this country by a single parent. 

 

CONCLUSION 

The district court erred in discounting the impact of Maricela’s “family and home environment” – the third Miller v. Alabama factor – on its sentencing decision.  That factor was almost entirely dominated by Maricela’s experience as an undocumented-child immigrant.  By ignoring the central experience of her 

young life (apart from her relationship with Salgado), the sentencing court greatly 

distorted the factors relevant to sentencing.  This court should correct that error by 

reducing Maricela’s sentence to a more proportionate one under the Miller v. 

Alabama factors. 

 

      Respectfully submitted 
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Center on Wrongful Convictions of Youth 
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auspices of the Bluhm Legal Clinic at Northwestern University School of Law. A joint 
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initiatives aimed at preventing wrongful convictions in the juvenile justice system. Since 

its founding, the CWCY has filed amicus briefs in jurisdictions across the country, 
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Juvenile Law Center 

Founded in 1975, Juvenile Law Center is the oldest public interest law firm for 

children in the United States. Juvenile Law Center advocates on behalf of youth in the 

child welfare, criminal, and juvenile justice systems to promote fairness, prevent harm, 

and ensure access to appropriate services. Juvenile Law Center works to ensure that 

children’s rights to due process are protected at all stages of juvenile court proceedings, 

from arrest through disposition, from post-disposition through appeal, and; that the 

juvenile and adult criminal justice systems consider the unique developmental differences 
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I. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

 

At the age of fifteen, Maricela Diaz participated in the murder of Jasmine 

Guevara with her then twenty-one-year-old boyfriend Alexander Salgado. Maricela was 

transferred to criminal court, tried as an adult, convicted, and sentenced to eighty years in 

prison on the murder and fifty years on the kidnaping charge. She will not be eligible for 

parole for at least forty years. 

Maricela deserves a new trial and sentencing hearing because the trial court failed 

to meaningfully consider and adequately account for Maricela’s youth in several critical 

decisions during proceedings. First, the trial court transferred Maricela to adult court 

based on its erroneous finding that her conduct was willful. Second, the trial court denied 

a defense-proffered jury instruction that would have required the jury to consider 

Maricela’s youth when determining whether her fear of imminent harm was reasonable 

and thus supported her duress defense. Third, the trial court treated her youth as an 

aggravating, rather than mitigating factor, at sentencing and ultimately sentenced her to 

an unconstitutional de facto life sentence.  

Although the trial court acknowledged Maricela’s age and even noted that 

Maricela’s “mental maturity was much less than one would expect from a 15-year-old in 

society,” the judge blamed Maricela for “seeking out” the dangerous Salgado at the age 

of twelve or thirteen, for being drawn to him by “adolescent desire” and for “looking for 

a reason to have contact with him.” S. Tr. 97. These “impetuous and ill-considered” 

actions are the hallmark traits of youth that the United States Supreme Court has held 

render juveniles less culpable than adults. Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 570 (2005).  
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The consequences of Maricela’s youth were exacerbated by the traumatic abuse 

she endured at the hands of Salgado. See Appellant’s Brief for details for the abuse. 

Similar to its treatment of Maricela’s youth, the trial court appeared to blame Maricela 

for her physical and sexual abuse, suggesting she was at fault for staying with Salgado 

even though numerous adults had tried to keep them apart. S. Tr. 97. But again, the 

dynamics of Maricela’s abusive relationship with Salgado also reflect hallmark 

characteristics of youth, including vulnerability to pressure, underdeveloped decision-

making skills, and an inability to escape a criminogenic environment. Miller v. Alabama, 

132 S. Ct. 2455, 2458, 2464 (2012). 

In short, the trial court’s multiple errors stem from the same failure – he did not 

recognize that the very same facts he, and through him the jury, relied upon to punish 

Maricela were readily explainable through the lens of her status as a teenager trapped in a 

cycle of physical and sexual abuse.
1
 In light of the U.S. Supreme Court’s recent 

proclamation that youth are “constitutionally different” in ways that our criminal justice 

must account for, there is no excuse for lower courts to ignore the impact of these 

differences on juveniles’ behavior and decision-making. It was an abuse of discretion to 

do so and a new trial and sentence is warranted. 

II. THE U.S. SUPREME COURT HAS RECOGNIZED THAT KIDS ARE 

CONSTITUTIONALLY DIFFERENT IN FUNDAMENTAL WAYS 

THAT ARE LEGALLY RELEVANT TO THE ADJUDICATION OF 

THEIR GUILT AND DETERMINATION OF THEIR SENTENCE 

 

“Children are different,” announced the U.S. Supreme Court in Miller v. Alabama 

in 2012, the latest in a series of decisions acknowledging that fundamental characteristics 

of youth render them less culpable and more capable of rehabilitation than adults. 132 S. 

                                                           
1
 Amici adopts the facts as described in Appellant’s Brief and recites them here only where 

necessary. 
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Ct. at 2470. The Court has relied upon an increasingly settled body of neuroscience and 

social science supporting these categorical differences between youth and adults. Graham 

v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48, 68 (2010) (“developments in psychology and brain science 

continue to show fundamental differences between juvenile and adult minds”); see also 

Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464 n. 5 (“[T]he science and social science supporting Roper and 

Graham’s conclusions have become even stronger”). This research establishes three 

primary differences between youth and adults relevant to culpability. See Miller, 132 S. 

Ct. at 2464; Graham, 560 U.S. at 68; Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569 (2005).   

“First, children have a lack of maturity and an underdeveloped sense of 

responsibility, leading to recklessness, impulsivity, and heedless risk-taking.” Miller, 132 

S. Ct. at 2464 (internal citations omitted). Leading psychological researchers have 

concluded that, “even when adolescent cognitive abilities approximate those of adults, 

youthful decision making may still differ due to immature judgment.”
2
 Neuroscientific 

research has similarly confirmed that adolescents have limited ability to coordinate the 

different brain regions needed for reasoning and problem solving.
3
 In particular, the 

human brain’s prefrontal cortex—which controls risk assessment, the ability to evaluate 

future consequences, and impulse control—does not fully develop until a person reaches 

                                                           
2
 See, e.g., Elizabeth S. Scott & Laurence Steinberg, Blaming Youth, 81 Tex. L. Rev. 799, 813 

(2003).   
3
 K. King, Waiving Childhood Goodbye: How Juvenile Courts Fail to Protect Children from 

Unknowing, Unintelligent, and Involuntary Waivers of Miranda Rights, 2006 Wis. L. Rev. 431, 

461 (2006).   
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his or her early 20s.
4
 Adolescents, thus, frequently “underestimate the risks in front of 

them and focus on short-term gains rather than long-term consequences.”
5
 

“Second,” the Miller Court stated, “children are more vulnerable . . . to negative 

influences and outside pressures, including from their family and peers; they have limited 

control over their own environment and lack the ability to extricate themselves from 

horrific, crime-producing settings.” Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464; Accord Graham, 560 U.S. 

at 68; Roper, 543 U.S. at 569. That adolescents are developmentally less capable than 

adults of making sound decisions when peer pressure is strong is widely accepted.
6
 

Researchers have also noted that environmental factors can also pressure children to 

break the law: “[A]s legal minors, [adolescents] lack the freedom that adults have to 

extricate themselves from a criminogenic setting.”
7
   

“And third,” the Miller Court found, “a child’s character is not as well formed as 

an adult’s; his traits are less fixed and his actions less likely to be evidence of 

irretrievable depravity.” Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464; see also Roper, 543 U.S. at 569-70; 

Graham, 560 U.S. at 68.  The elasticity of human development, particularly during the 

years of maturation from childhood into adulthood, is again well-supported by research. 

“As juveniles . . . transition into early adulthood, there is a strengthening of self-

regulation in the brain that is coupled with a change . . . in the way the brain responds to 

                                                           
4
 Jay N. Giedd, Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging of the Adolescent Brain, 1021 Annals 

N.Y. Acad. Sci 77, 77 (2006).   
5
 Barry Feld, The Youth Discount: Old Enough to Do the Crime, Too Young to Do the Time, 11 

Ohio St. J. Crim. 107, 116-17 (2013). 
6
 See, e.g., Jay D. Aronson, Brain Imaging, Culpability and the Juvenile Death Penalty, 13 

Psychol. Pub. Pol’y & L. 115, 119 (2007).   
7
 Laurence Steinberg & Elizabeth Scott, Less Guilty by Reason of Adolescence: Developmental 

Immaturity, Diminished Responsibility, and the Juvenile Death Penalty, 58 Am. Psychologist 

1009, 1014 (2003).   
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rewards. . .  consistent with the aggregate peak and eventual precipitous decline in 

delinquency and crime observed in very early adulthood.”
8
  

III. THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO ADEQUATELY ACCOUNT FOR 

MARICELA’S YOUTH AT SEVERAL CRITICAL STAGES OF 

PROCEEDINGS AS REQUIRED BY THE U.S. SUPREME COURT 

 

Courts must give more than just lip service to a defendant’s youth when it is a 

relevant factor to the analysis. Here, Maricela’s youth was relevant and significant to the 

court’s analysis of willfulness at the transfer hearing, the determination of jury 

instructions, and sentencing. But the record reveals that the court’s consideration of her 

youth was perfunctory at best, and potentially punitive. In other words, the judge 

appeared to punish Maricela for her youth rather than weigh it as a mitigating factor at 

these four critical points in the proceedings. See also Roper, 543 U.S. at 572 (evincing 

concern that a “defendant’s youth might be counted against him” by a jury in a case 

involving a particularly brutal crime and criticizing the prosecutor for “overreaching” in 

arguing to jury that Simmons’ youth be counted as aggravation, rather than mitigation, in 

urging jury to impose death sentence). 

A. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Concluding that the Offense 

was Committed in a Willful Manner  

 

The trial court abused its discretion in concluding that the offense was committed 

in a willful manner. People In Interest of Y.C., 1998 S.D. 76, ¶ 7, 581 N.W.2d 483, 485 

(citing State v. Jones, 521 N.W.2d 662, 673 (S.D.1994) (citation omitted)). The evidence 

was uncontroverted at the transfer hearing that Maricela was a child, smaller than and 

physically overpowered by adult Salgado, and that Salgado physically isolated and 

                                                           
8
 See, e.g., Alex R. Piquero, Youth Matters: The Meaning of Miller for Theory, Research, and 

Policy Regarding Developmental/Life-Course Criminology, 39 New Eng. J. on Crim. & Civ. 

Confinement 347, 349 (2013). 
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repeatedly abused Maricela. Salgado could have been convicted of both statutory rape 

and abuse or cruelty to a minor for his treatment of Maricela. Under these circumstances, 

the court abused its discretion in concluding that Maricela’s involvement was “willful, 

not coerced.”  

As explained in section II, the Supreme Court has repeatedly recognized that 

teenagers are uniquely susceptible to pressure, particularly pressure from adults, and that 

their ability to resist coercive influences is less than adults. See, e.g., Roper, 543 U.S. at 

569 (“[J]uveniles are more vulnerable or susceptible to negative influences and outside 

pressures, including peer pressure.”); accord Graham, 560 U.S. at 68. See also Miller, 

132 S. Ct. at 2458. (Teenagers ‘are more vulnerable ... to negative influences and outside 

pressures”).
9
 The Court’s conclusions are amply supported by social science

10
 and 

neuroscientific research on brain development that explain this deficit in youth.
11

  

Moreover, youths are less able to extricate themselves from coercive situations 

and are often uniquely captive to their environment. Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2458 (youth 

have “limited ‘contro[l] over their own environment’ and lack the ability to extricate 

themselves from horrific, crime-producing settings.”). This was the case for Maricela, 

particularly after Salgado took her from her home and family and moved her to South 

                                                           
9
 Reid Griffith Fontaine, Social Information Processing, Subtypes of Violence, and a Progressive 

Construction of Culpability and Punishment in Juvenile Justice, 31 Int’l J. L. & Psychiatry 136, 

137 (2008) (“the ability of adolescents to resist coercive influences is lesser than that of adults.”).   
10

 See, e.g., Nina Chernoff & Marsha Levick, Beyond the Death Penalty: Implications of 

Adolescent Development Research for the Prosecution, Defense and Sanctioning of Youthful 

Offenders, Clearinghouse Rev. J. of Poverty L. & Pol’y 209, 210 (2005); Franklin Zimring, 

American Juvenile Justice 60 (Oxford University Press, 2005); Elizabeth Cauffman & Laurence 

Steinberg, Emerging Findings from Research on Adolescent Development and Juvenile Justice, 7 

Victims & Offenders 428, 434-37 (2012). 
11

 Laurence Steinberg, A Social Neuroscience Perspective on Adolescent Risk-Taking, 28 

Developmental Review 78, 83-84 (2008). 
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Dakota, where she knew no one. She was not old enough to buy a bus ticket to return 

home or to hold a full-time job to support herself. 

Salgado testified to repeatedly physically abusing Maricela.
12

 His treatment of 

Maricela was criminal, in violation of laws specifically designed to protect children in 

recognition of their inherent vulnerabilities. S.D. Codified Laws § 26-10-1 (felony statute 

re: cruelty to a minor); S.D. Codified Laws § 22-22-1(5) (statutory rape statute). As one 

legislator explained, “our children, the most innocent among us, deserve to have extended 

protection on child abuse….”
13

 Similarly, this Court has made clear that the age of 

consent for statutory rape “has been established by our legislature as a matter of public 

policy for the obvious protection of young and immature females.” State v. Fulks, 83 S.D. 

433, 436, 160 N.W.2d 418, 420 (1968) overruled on other grounds by State v. Ree, 331 

N.W.2d 557 (S.D. 1983). This Court has emphasized that a young girl is not capable of 

consenting to sexual relations with an adult man:  “The fact that a fourteen-year-old gives 

“consent” to sexual intercourse is of no relevant consideration. The very premise 

underlying statutory rape is that children are incapable of consenting’ to voluntary sexual 

relations.” State v. Bonner, 1998 S.D. 30, ¶¶ 27-28, 577 N.W.2d 575, 582-83. And the 

very purpose of these laws is to prevent older men from preying upon adolescents and 

coercing them into sexual activity before they are capable of consent.  The trial court’s 

finding that Maricela “willfully” engaged in sexual relations with Salgado subverts these 

very purposes of the statutory rape laws. 

                                                           
12

 See, e.g., 2/2/14 Tr. at 526-539; 2/1/14 Tr. at 294, 330. 
13

 Debate on H.B. 1238 Before the H.R., 2008 Leg., 91
st
 Sess. (SD 2008) (Statement of Rep. 

Magaret Gillespie, Member, H.R), available at http://sdpb.sd.gov/SDPBPodcast/2008/hou18.rm 

beginning at 1:41:35) (in hearings on a proposal, which passed into law, to extend the statute of 

limitations for S.D. Codified Laws § 26-10-1).   
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Given the significant evidence in the record detailing Salgado’s repeated rape, 

beating, and terrorizing of Maricela and the above precedent from the U.S. Supreme 

Court and this Court highlighting the vulnerability of a 15-year-old in such a situation, 

the trial court abused its discretion in failing to recognize the inherent coerciveness of 

their relationship. 

B. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Denying Defense Counsel’s 

Requested Jury Instruction Directing the Jury to Consider Maricela’s 

Youth When Determining Whether Her Fear of Imminent Harm Was 

Reasonable  

 

The trial court erred when it precluded the jury from accounting for Maricela’s 

youth when evaluating the reasonableness of her fear of imminent harm, a critical 

element of the defense theory. Tr. 1341-42. At trial, Maricela’s counsel presented an 

affirmative defense of duress, or justification.
14

 To prove duress, a defendant must show 

that she engaged in criminal conduct “because of the use or threatened use of force a 

reasonable person in that situation would have been lawfully unable to resist.” SDCL § 

22-5-1. The essential element of this defense “is a reasonable fear of death or bodily 

harm imminent or emergent.” State v. Boettcher, 443 N.W. 2d 1, 2 (S.D. 1989) (emphasis 

added). 

The duress analysis begins with an examination of “the circumstances 

surrounding the crime.” State v. Miller, 313 N.W.2d 460, 462 (S.D. 1981). As explained 

below, the circumstance of Maricela’s youth was highly relevant to the reasonableness of 

her belief that she faced imminent death or bodily harm. But the trial court denied 

defense counsel’s request for jury instructions that would have permitted the jury to 

                                                           
14

 Though the South Dakota criminal code references this defense as one of “justification,” amici, 

consistent with counsel and the court, use the term “duress” in reference to the justification 

defense. 
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evaluate the reasonableness of her fear from the perspective of a youth. Supp. Req. Insts. 

99, 100.
15

 A new trial is required where a defendant was unfairly prejudiced by the trial 

court’s refusal to give a requested instruction. State v. Walton, 600 N.W.2d 524, 528. 

Here, it is likely that the jury would have concluded that Maricela acted under duress had 

they been permitted to consider her youth. 

1. Duress Should Be Evaluated from the Perspective of a 

Reasonable Juvenile 

 

U.S. Supreme Court precedent supports the instruction requested by Maricela’s 

counsel at trial. To establish a duress defense, a defendant need not prove actual 

imminent harm; the only question is whether the defendant’s belief that she was in 

imminent danger was reasonable. Because the defense requires an individual to weigh 

the costs and benefits of a certain act, it rests entirely on her judgment and decision-

making capabilities. In J.D.B. v. North Carolina, the Court created a “reasonable child” 

standard based on case law, commonsense observations, and scientific data showing that 

juveniles are categorically ill-equipped to make decisions in the same manner as adults. 

131 S. Ct. 2394 (2011). In reaching its decision, the Court recognized that there are 

tangible differences between the cognitive and emotional capacities of juveniles and 

adults, which amount to differences in what is viewed as “reasonable.” See Roper, 543 

                                                           
15

 Defense-proffered instruction Supp. Req. Inst. 99 provided “. . . If you decide that the 

defendant was battered or abused by Alexander Salgado, you may consider that in determining 

the reasonableness of the defendant’s perception of the immediacy of the harm in light of the 

defendant’s experience of abuse.” (emphasis added).  Supp. Req. Inst. 100 provided that “[t]he 

imminent danger element may be satisfied when a child believes she is in imminent danger of 

death or serious bodily harm even though her abuser is not physically abusing her at the time.” 

Supp. Req. Instr. 100 (emphasis added). Together, these defense- proffered instructions would 

have enabled the jury to evaluate the reasonableness of Maricela’s fear of imminent harm and to 

do so from the perspective of child. 
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U.S. at 569-70; Graham, 560 U.S. at 68-69.
16

 Similarly here, because Marciela’s defense 

rested on the juvenile’s “reasonable belief” about the necessity of her actions to prevent 

imminent harm to herself, J.D.B. compels the adoption of a reasonable child standard to 

evaluate her belief.  

In J.D.B., the Supreme Court held that courts must apply a reasonable juvenile 

standard when determining whether a juvenile suspect would “have felt he or she was at 

liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave” for purposes of Miranda v. Arizona. 131 

S. Ct. 2394, 2404 (2011). “J.D.B. was groundbreaking, distinguishing for the first time in 

the criminal context the oft-cited ‘reasonable person’ from the reasonable juvenile.”
17

 

The broad applicability of the holding, however, is supported by the Court’s reliance on 

common law and state practice, as well as previous Supreme Court law distinguishing 

youth from adults. “The qualities that characterize the reasonable juvenile throughout the 

common law—attention, prudence, knowledge, intelligence, and judgment—are precisely 

those that society fails to ascribe to minors.”
18

 The ruling in J.D.B. makes this explicit by 

requiring a “reasonable child” standard in the context of Miranda analysis: to ignore the 

defendant’s age would not only be unconstitutional, but also frequently “nonsensical.” 

J.D.B., 131 S. Ct. at 2405. 

The same is true with the duress defense, which involves exactly the type of 

decision-making most challenging to adolescents; it applies when the accused reasonably 

believed her conduct was necessary to avoid imminent bodily harm or death. Boettcher, 

                                                           
16

 Marsha Levick and Elizabeth Tierney, The United States Supreme Court Adopts a Reasonable 

Juvenile Standard in J.D.B. v. North Carolina for Purposes of the Miranda Custody Analysis: 

Can a More Reasoned System for Juveniles be Far Behind?, 47 Harvard Civil Rights-Civil 

Liberties Law Review, No. 2 (2012) at 519.   
17

 Id. at 517. 
18

 Id. at 506. 
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443 N.W. 2d at 2. While an adult might identify additional options in such a stressful 

situation, a young person, acting in the moment, particularly when under stress, may not 

have the capacity to do so. In this case, Maricela – a battered and traumatized 15 year old 

– could have reasonably believed that her only option to keep herself safe was to help 

Salgado commit this crime. 

2. Youth is a Highly Relevant Factor to Consider When 

Evaluating a Duress Defense 

 

Indeed, as discussed in sections II and III.a., although adults may perceive 

multiple options in a coercive situation, adolescents may perceive only one, further 

limiting their understanding of how to escape.
19

 Moreover, “because adolescents are less 

likely than adults to think through the future consequences of their actions, the same level 

of duress may have a more disruptive impact on juveniles’ decision making than on that 

of adults.”
20

 Also, as discussed above, as a youth, Maricela was particularly susceptible 

to pressure and more suggestible. She also had “limited control over their own 

environment,” and was less able to “to extricate [herself] from [this] horrific, crime-

producing setting[].” Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2458. These developmentally-based 

impairments in decision-making are exacerbated when adolescents are under stress. For 

adolescents, “[f]actors such as emotion and physiological arousal may lead to hasty 

decision-making or the bypassing of important decision-making domains altogether.”
21

 It 

                                                           
19

 Marty Beyer, Immaturity, Culpability & Competency in Juveniles: A Study of 17 Cases, 15 

Crim. Just. 27, 27 (2000); Marty Beyer, Recognizing the Child in the Delinquent, 7 Ky. Child Rts. 

J. 16, 17-18 (1999). 
20

 Steinberg and Scott, 58 Am. Psychol. at 6 (emphasis added). See also Elizabeth S. Scott & 

Laurence Steinberg, Adolescent Development and the Regulation of Youth Crime, 18 Future of 

Children 15, 23-24 (2008). 
21

 Fontaine, 31 Int’l J. L. & Psychiatry at 145. See also Laurence Steinberg & Robert G. 

Schwartz, Developmental Psychology Goes to Court in Youth on Trial: A Developmental 

Perspective on Juvenile Justice 9, 26 (Thomas Grisso & Robert G. Schwartz eds., 2000) 



12 
 

is thus unsurprising that youth “who do not know how to deal with such pressure lack 

effective control of the situations that place them most at risk of crime in their teens.”
22

 

For all of these reasons, it was critical that the jury be allowed to consider 

Maricela’s youth when evaluating the reasonableness of her fear of imminent harm, her 

behavior, and ultimately of her culpability and guilt. Consideration of youth was 

particularly appropriate here where a fifteen-year-old abused and traumatized girl 

committed a crime with her much older boyfriend. By virtue of her age and development 

alone, and particularly when exacerbated by the enduring stress of ongoing abuse and 

trauma, Maricela was less able to reject the coercive control of her abusive boyfriend, 

less able to assess her alternative options, less able to foresee the consequences of her 

actions, and less able to extricate herself from the horrific situation once it became clear 

that she was expected to participate in a murder. Here, if the jury had been instructed to 

account for her youth, it is likely that they would have concluded that she acted under 

duress and the verdict would have been different. 

C. The Court Violated the Eighth Amendment in Sentencing 15-Year-

Old Maricela Diaz to an 80-Year Sentence  

 

Maricela’s eighty-year sentence, which requires her to serve forty years before 

becoming parole eligible, is unconstitutional. The sentence is the functional equivalent of 

life without parole as it fails to provide a meaningful opportunity for release. See 

Graham, 560 U.S. at 75 (holding that States must provide juvenile nonhomicide 

offenders “some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated 

maturity and rehabilitation”). Miller establishes a presumption against imposing life 

                                                                                                                                                                             
(explaining that even when older adolescents have intellectual abilities comparable to adults, their 

relative lack of experience may impede their decision-making capacity).   
22

 Zimring, American Juvenile Justice at 61. 
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without parole sentences (or their functional equivalent) on juveniles, finding that 

“appropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be 

uncommon.” Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469.
23

 See also Montgomery v. Louisiana, No. 14-280, 

2016 WL 280758, at *13 (U.S. Jan. 25, 2016). Miller requires the sentencer “to take into 

account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably 

sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id.   

1. The Trial Court Improperly Weighted The Facts of The 

Homicide  
 

U.S. Supreme Court precedent requires sentencers to separate the nature of the 

crime from the culpability of the offender. In Roper, the Court found that “[a]n 

unacceptable likelihood exists that the brutality or cold-blooded nature of any particular 

crime would overpower mitigating arguments based on youth as a matter of course, even 

where the juvenile offender’s objective immaturity, vulnerability, and lack of true 

depravity should require a sentence less severe than death.” 543 U.S. at 573. The same 

“unacceptable likelihood” exists whenever a juvenile convicted of homicide is sentenced; 

if the violent nature of the crime outweighs evidence of mitigation based on youth, the 

extreme sentences disfavored by Miller will be common. Therefore, even when a 

homicide is especially brutal, the sentencer must consider how the youth’s age and 

developmental immaturity counsel against a sentence that deprives a juvenile offender a 

meaningful opportunity to obtain release. See Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469.  

                                                           
23

 Several state supreme courts have found that Miller creates a presumption against juvenile life 

without parole. See State v. Riley, 110 A.3d 1205, 1214 (Conn. 2015); State v. Seats, 865 N.W.2d 

545, 555 (Iowa 2015); State v. Hart, 404 S.W.3d 232, 241 (Mo. 2013) (en banc). This Court 

found that life sentences for juvenile homicide offenders “would be the exception, not the rule.” 

State v. Springer, 856 N.W.2d 460, 465 n.5 (2014). 
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Here, the trial court improperly allowed the facts of the crime itself to outweigh 

the youth-related mitigation. He noted that “this crime in particular, in ways that few 

others have in my own memory, crossed the bounds of all decency and simply shredded 

the dignity of human life that this community holds dear, and it treated it with a 

disrespect borne of depravity.” S. Tr. 94-95. After discussing mitigating evidence, he 

stated, “the public needs to know that a horrendous crime needs to be met with a very 

serious punishment, a very serious sanction.” Id. at 99. Because the trial court assigned 

too much weight to the crime itself and too little weight to the mitigating attributes of 

youth, Maricela’s sentence should be vacated. 

2. The Trial Court Failed To Give Sufficient Weight To 

Maricela’s Age And The Hallmark Features Of Youth  

 

Miller requires a sentencer to consider the offender’s “chronological age and its 

hallmark features – among them, immaturity, impetuosity, and failure to appreciate risks 

and consequences.” 132 S. Ct. at 2468. An expert concluded that Maricela’s “mental 

maturity was much less than one would expect from a 15-year-old in our society.” S. Tr. 

96. This finding alone suggests that a sentence that deprives Maricela a meaningful 

opportunity to obtain release is inappropriate because her culpability is vastly diminished 

compared to an adult offender. See Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2464. 

Because, for all the reasons set forth in sections II and III.a. and b., Maricela 

lacked the skills and maturity necessary to appropriately weigh risks and assess future 

consequences, she was less culpable than an adult making a similar decision. See Roper, 

543 U.S. at 570 (“The susceptibility of juveniles to immature and irresponsible behavior 

means ‘their irresponsible conduct is not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult.’”) 
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(quoting Thompson, 87 U.S. at 835). Yet the trial court did not state how, if at all, he 

factored Maricela’s age and immaturity into the sentence imposed.   

3. The Trial Court Improperly Disregarded Mitigating Evidence 

of Maricela’s Vulnerability to Pressure, Particularly as a 

Victim of Physical and Sexual Abuse 

 

Miller requires that the sentencer consider “the circumstances of the homicide 

offense, including . . . the way familial and peer pressures may have affected him.” 132 S. 

Ct. at 2455. The trial court wrongly concluded that peer pressure was not a factor because 

Maricela “sought out” a relationship with Alexander Salgado, knowing “he was a 

dangerous person.” S. Tr. 97. See also S. Tr. 97 (“[I]t’s interesting to me that you sought 

out the relationship at that age of 12 or 13, that you looked to have contact with him.”). 

The implication that Maricela made a mature, considered decision to seek out and remain 

in this violent “relationship” does not comport with research on abuse or adolescent 

development, as described in Section II and III.a. and b. Her diminished culpability is 

compounded by the facts that she was raped at age thirteen, impregnated at age fourteen, 

and was repeatedly physically and sexually abused. Maricela’s relationship with Mr. 

Salgado was abusive and coercive. Even absent abuse and explicit coercion, a teenager’s 

decision-making is highly influenced by her peers. 
24

 This developmental attribute must 

not be confused with actively seeking out and welcoming negative peer pressure.  

 The trial court, however, found no connection between this coercive and abusive 

relationship and Maricela’s culpability. The judge stated that “[t]his crime . . .is not 

explained by [Mr. Salgado’s] violence upon you,” noting that “abuse victims don’t 

respond by harming other people. So in the end, that abuse in no way explains the 

                                                           
24

 Brief for American Psychological Association et al. as Amici Curiae Supporting Petitioners at 

18, Miller v. Alabama, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012), (Nos. 10-9646, 10-9647) (internal quotation and 

citation omitted). 
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depravity of the crime.” S. Tr. 97-98. This misses the point. The U.S. Supreme Court has 

found that a history of abuse is a strong mitigating factor for juvenile defendants. See, 

e.g., Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115 (1982); Miller, 132 S. Ct. at 2469 (noting 

history of physical abuse to be a mitigating factor). The trial court’s failure to consider 

Maricela’s particular vulnerability in light of her young age and history of abuse was 

improper. 

 

4. Maricela’s Sentence Provides No Meaningful Opportunity for 

Release 

Whether a sentence provides a meaningful opportunity for release should not 

depend on anticipated dates of death. See, e.g., State v. Null, 836 N.W.2d 41, 71-72 (Iowa 

2013). First, incarceration generally increases the risk of poor health outcomes, and 

juveniles sometimes have shorter life expectancies than adults serving the same sentence.
 

25
 Second, a meaningful opportunity for release must mean more than release on a 

gurney. Providing parole eligibility after four decades in prison denies Maricela an 

opportunity to live a meaningful life in the community and contribute to society. See, 

e.g., State v. Pearson, 836 N.W.2d 88, 96 (Iowa 2013).  

////// 

////// 

 

 

IV. CONCLUSION 

                                                           
25

 Jason Schnittker et al., Incarceration and the Health of the African American Community, 8 DU 

BOIS REV. 133, 138 (2011); See ACLU of Michigan, Juvenile Life without Parole Initiative, 

Michigan Life Expectancy Data for Youth Serving Natural Life Sentences. 
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Throughout pretrial proceedings, trial, and sentencing, the trial court exhibited a 

lack of understanding of and appreciation for the relevance and significance of Maricela’s 

youth and its impact on her culpability. The court abused its discretion at several critical 

junctures when it failed to meaningfully account of her youth in its decision-making.  In 

fact, it appears that the Court – perhaps blinded by the horrific nature of the crime – 

counted Maricela’s youth against her in deciding to transfer her to criminal court, 

denying her requested duress instruction and in meting out her sentence.  For the 

foregoing reasons, Amici ask the Court to grant the relief requested by Appellant. 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 
 

 This court has jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL 15-26A-1(1) and  

 
SDCL 23A-32-2, -5 and -9. 
 

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 
 

WAS IT APPROPRIATE TO TRY DIAZ AS AN ADULT? 
 

SDCL 26-11-4 
 

The trial court transferred Diaz’s case from juvenile to adult 
court. 
 

SHOULD THE TRIAL COURT HAVE RECONSIDERED AND 
REVERSED ITS ORDER TRANSFERRING DIAZ TO ADULT 
COURT IN LIGHT OF NEW DEFENSE ATTACKS ON THE 

CREDIBILITY OF THE STATE’S EXPERT? 
 

SDCL 26-11-4 
 

The trial judge did not rehear the transfer ruling. 
 

SHOULD THIS COURT RECONSIDER AND REVERSE ITS 
RULING IN STATE  V. DIAZ, 2014 SD 27, 847 N.W.2d 144, 

ADMITTING DIAZ’S CONFESSION IN LIGHT OF FACTS 
DEVELOPED AT TRIAL AND A SUBSEQUENT UNITED STATES 

SUPREME COURT DECISION? 
 

Fare v. Michael C., 99 S.Ct. 2560 (1979) 
 

Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016) 
 

Rhines v. Weber, 2000 SD 19, 608 N.W.2d 303 
 

The facts developed at trial and dicta in a subsequent United 

States Supreme Court decision do not warrant reversal of this 
court’s ruling admitting Diaz’s confession. 
 

DID THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REJECT DIAZ’S PROPOSED 

BATTERED WOMAN DEFENSE INSTRUCTION? 
 

State v. Burtzlaff, 493 N.W.2d 1 (S.D. 1992) 
 

State v. Leidholm, 334 N.W.2d 811 (N.D. 1983) 
 

State v. Thomas, 673 N.E.2d 1339 (Ohio 2002) 
 

The trial judge utilized a standard battered woman instruction in 

lieu of Diaz’s proposed instruction. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135154&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Ifc221c64d74711e39488c8f438320c70&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2571&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_708_2571
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DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN 
SENTENCING DIAZ TO 80 YEARS FOR FIRST DEGREE 

MURDER?  
 

State v. Rice, 2016 SD 18, --- NW2d --- 
 

The trial judge sentenced Diaz to 80 years. 
 

IS DIAZ’S 80-YEAR SENTENCE DISPROPORTIONATE TO 

SIMILAR SENTENCES FOR SIMILAR CRIMES COMMITTED BY 
JUVENILE OFFENDERS? 

 

State v. Charles, 2001 SD 67, 628 N.W.2d 734 
 

State v. Chipps, 2016 SD 8, 874 N.W.2d 475 
 

State v. Springer, 2014 SD 80, 856 N.W.2d 460 
 

State v. Traversie, 2016 SD 16, --- NW2d --- 
 

The trial judge sentenced Diaz to 80 years. 
 

IS DIAZ’S 80-YEAR SENTENCE A PROHIBITED MANDATORY 
LIFE SENTENCE? 

 

State v. Springer, 2014 SD 80, 856 N.W.2d 460 
 

The trial judge sentenced Diaz to a term of years. 
 

 PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 
 

 The trial transcript will be cited as TRIAL followed by a 

reference to the corresponding page/line.  Trial exhibits will be cited 

as EXHIBIT followed by reference to its assigned number in the 

record.  The suppression hearing transcripts will be cited as 

SUPPRESSION followed by the date and a reference to the 

corresponding page/line.  The official record will be cited as 

RECORD.  The trial court’s findings of fact in regards to the transfer 

determination will be cited as FOF followed by a reference to the 

pertinent paragraph.  The transcripts of Diaz’s police interviews 

(Exhibits 69b, 70 and 71b) will be cited as INTERVIEWS 1, 2 and 3 
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followed by a reference to the corresponding page.  INTERVIEW 

excerpts are attached hereto in the APPENDIX for the court’s ease of 

reference. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS 
 

A.  Factual History 
 

 Fifteen-year-old Maricela Diaz ran away from her home in Indiana 

with her twenty-year-old boyfriend, Alexander Salgado, to escape the 

supervision of her estranged mother, Irma Guttierrez-Placencia.  

INTERVIEW 1 at 33.  Irma was trying to keep Diaz and Salgado apart.  In 

defiance of her mother’s concerns for her welfare, Diaz abandoned her 

and Salgado’s newborn baby with her mother to head to Mexico with 

Salgado.  The first leg of their journey took them to Mitchell, South 

Dakota, where they stayed with a friend.  Salgado and Diaz soon 

befriended sixteen-year-old Jasmine Guevara.  Jasmine helped her new 

friends adjust to the community by giving them food, money, clothes, 

rides to the store and job interviews, and tips for finding jobs.  

INTERVIEW 1 at 39. 

After three weeks in Mitchell, Diaz became jealous of Jasmine 

because she wrongly believed Jasmine had romantic designs on Salgado.  

Diaz was extremely possessive of Salgado and prone to frequent fits of 

jealousy when she believed he was eyeing another female, or that another 

female had designs on him.  TRIAL at 699/10, 700/23, 701/2, 703/18, 

704/13, 706/13-23, 707/7, 708/6, 713/1, 714/2.  Diaz demanded 
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Salgado prove his love for her by helping her kill Jasmine.  TRIAL at 

715/11, 716/21, 717/20, 718/18, 729/13; INTERVIEW 3 at 107. 

Diaz first considered throwing Jasmine under a train but, after 

visiting the railyard, decided the trains moved too slowly; throwing 

Jasmine off a bridge was also considered but Diaz felt there were too 

many residences near the bridge.  Eventually, Diaz formed a plan to 

murder Jasmine by stabbing and burning her to death out in the 

country.  INTERVIEW 3 at 95; TRIAL at 720/24, 725/7, 729/2; 

TRANSFER at 366/10-20, 367/23, 369/14, 372/25. 

 Diaz was “mad but calm” as she put the plan in motion by calling 

Jasmine to ask for a ride to WalMart.  TRIAL at 719/18; TRANSFER at 

368/12; FOF 26, 27.  She told Jasmine she needed charcoal lighter fluid 

for a barbecue she and Salgado were headed to.  TRIAL at 725/17-22, 

731/12, 734/4.  She invited Jasmine to attend with them.  Jasmine was 

game for a barbecue with her new friends.  On their way out the door, 

Diaz and Salgado pocketed two kitchen knives.  TRIAL 725/6.  As the 

realization of what they were preparing to do started to sink in, Salgado 

“was starting to get really nervous . . . starting feeling, like really cold in 

[his] stomach.”  TRIAL at 727/2, 730/13.  Diaz “didn’t look nervous at 

all.”  TRIAL at 727/5, 733/4. 

Jasmine picked up Diaz and Salgado and drove them to WalMart 

to purchase the lighter fluid.  TRIAL at 735/13.  Diaz was “happy 

because Jasmine pay [for the lighter fluid with] her own money, because 
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she – [Diaz] knew that we didn’t have no money.”  TRANSFER at 392; 

INTERVIEW 3 at 96.  From WalMart, Diaz and Salgado had Jasmine 

drive to a “haunted house” outside of town.  TRIAL at 735/21. 

Once Jasmine stopped the car, Salgado stepped out.  The plan was 

for Diaz to start the murder and for Salgado to finish it.  INTERVIEW 3 at 

95.  Diaz started “stabbing and stabbing and stabbing and stabbing and 

stabbing and stabbing [Jasmine] in the stomach and legs.”  TRIAL at 

743/7, 746/8.  Salgado got back in the car when he heard Jasmine 

screaming.  TRIAL at 738/16.  Jasmine grabbed the knife by the blade 

trying to wrest the knife from Diaz’s hand.  TRIAL at 739/12, 740/1, 

742/11. 

Salgado got back in the car and held Jasmine’s arms and hair from 

the back seat while Diaz continued stabbing Jasmine.  TRIAL at 743/20, 

744/12.  Jasmine fought back, asking “Why are you guys doing this to 

me?”  TRIAL at 744/22.  Salgado “wasn’t brave enough to say” that he 

was “just doing it for Maricela.”  TRIAL at 745/19.  Diaz, screamed back 

“Die, bitch.  Die, bitch.”  TRIAL at 746/24.  With Jasmine restrained by 

Salgado, Diaz was “stabbing her up, like going really nuts on Jasmine.”  

TRIAL at 746/6.  Diaz stabbed Jasmine with such force that she bent the 

blade of her knife and then threw it onto the passenger side floorboard.  

TRIAL at 747/23.  Salgado picked up the slack and stabbed Jasmine five 

or six times in the stomach and leg with his own knife.  TRIAL at 
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748/12.  Diaz then took Salgado’s knife and made “one deep cut in 

Jasmine’s leg.”  TRIAL at 750/4. 

Jasmine’s “whole body was shaking.”  TRIAL at 751/15.   Salgado 

pulled Jasmine’s hair back to allow Diaz to embed the knife in Jasmine’s 

throat.  TRIAL at 751/5.  Salgado “pushed the knife deep inside 

[Jasmine’s throat] as far as [he] could.”  TRIAL at 751/17.  Jasmine 

stopped struggling and went limp.  TRIAL at 751/17, 752/10. 

Diaz started dousing Jasmine with lighter fluid.  TRIAL at 752/13, 

753/4; INTERVIEW 3 at 84.  Diaz and Salgado then stuffed their dying 

victim into the trunk, the knife still protruding from her throat.  TRIAL at 

753/24, 755/14.  Salgado then drove to a more secluded area.  TRIAL at 

758/4. 

Taking a cue from an execution method used by Mexican drug 

cartels that they had seen on the reality TV show 1,000 Ways To Die, 

Diaz and Salgado doused Jasmine and her car with more lighter fluid, 

and set Jasmine and the car ablaze while she yet lived.  TRIAL at 

721/24, 722/5-20, 759/2, 908/24; INTERVIEW 3 at 84.  Diaz and 

Salgado then walked back to the house where they were staying.  Along 

the way, Diaz discarded her bloody hoodie and gloves.  TRIAL at 767/2; 

EXHIBITS 74, 95, 110. 

Back home, Salgado was nervous and sweating.  TRIAL at 767/13, 

768/12.  Diaz was “joking, laughing” with the woman she and Salgado 

were staying with, “having a regular conversation.”  TRIAL at 767/21.  
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Diaz pressed Salgado to have sex with her that night.  TRANSFER at 

556/24.  The next day, Diaz was “acting really cool” as she made 

breakfast for Salgado.  TRIAL 770/11.  Diaz “was really happy.”  TRIAL at 

770/12.  Later that day, Diaz told Salgado “I hope that bitch is really 

cook[ed].  Otherwise we’re fucked.”  TRIAL at 763/16. 

  Diaz need not have worried.  Firefighters who responded to the 

scene discovered Jasmine Guevara’s corpse in the trunk of her torched 

Chevrolet Malibu, charred beyond recognition.   EXHIBITS 122, 123, 

124.  Officially, Jasmine died of smoke inhalation, though her stab 

wounds and burning alive also certainly contributed to her death.  TRIAL 

at 905/13, 907/13, 908/24, 909/1; EXHIBITS 125, 126 

 B.  Procedural History 

Diaz was charged by an amended juvenile petition with First 

Degree Murder, First Degree Murder – Felony Murder, and First Degree 

Arson.  Diaz was transferred to adult court.  She filed a motion to 

suppress her statements to law enforcement.  The court found Diaz’s 

statements were voluntary based on her willingness to speak with law 

enforcement, but suppressed her confession, finding that she did not 

knowingly and intelligently waive her Miranda rights.  The state took an 

intermediate appeal of the trial court’s suppression order. 

 On May 7, 2014, this court reversed the suppression order, finding 

that Diaz had knowingly and intelligently waived her Miranda rights.  

State v. Diaz, 2014 S.D. 27, 847 N.W.2d 144. 
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 Following a jury trial, on January 15, 2015, Diaz was convicted of 

murder and kidnapping.  She was sentenced to 80 years in the South 

Dakota State Penitentiary on the murder charge.  Diaz now appeals her 

conviction and sentence. 

ARGUMENT 
 

 Diaz raises seven issues which challenge four aspects of her trial 

proceedings: (1) her transfer to adult court, (2) admission of her 

confession per this court’s intermediate ruling; (3) denial of an 

instruction re: her battered woman defense, and (4) the 80-year sentence 

imposed for the murder charge. 

A.  ISSUES 1, 2: Diaz Was Properly Tried As An Adult 
 

SDCL 26-11-4 vests juvenile courts with the discretion to transfer 

juvenile proceedings to adult court.  A transfer determination will not be 

reversed absent an abuse of discretion.  On review, “there must be 

substantial evidence in the record to support the juvenile court’s finding 

that it would be contrary to the best interests of the child or of the public 

to retain jurisdiction over the child.”  State v. Harris, 494 N.W.2d 619, 

624 (S.D. 1993).  “However, neither the interests of the child nor the 

interests of the state are controlling considerations.”  State v. Jensen, 

1998 SD 52, ¶ 21, 579 N.W.2d 613, 617.  The factors the court considers 

in determining whether to transfer a juvenile to adult court are: 

1. The seriousness of the offense and protection of the community; 
 

2. Whether the offense was aggressive, violent, premeditated or willful; 
 

3. Whether the offense was against a person or property; 
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4. The prosecutive merit of the state’s case; 
 

5. The benefit, if any, of joint proceedings with an adult co-defendant; 
 

6. The juvenile’s prior history and record; and, 
 

7. Public safety and rehabilitative potential in the juvenile system. 
 

SDCL 26-11-4.  The findings of fact on which the juvenile court’s transfer 

order is based “shall not be set aside upon review unless clearly 

erroneous, and due regard shall be given to the opportunity of the trial 

court to judge the credibility of the witnesses.”  SDCL 26-11-4. 

In view of the applicable standards and the evidence presented at 

the transfer hearing, the juvenile court properly concluded that it was 

contrary to the best interests of Diaz and the public to retain jurisdiction 

in juvenile court. 

1.-3. Diaz Committed A Serious, Violent Offense Against 
    A Person 

 

There is no disputing that Diaz’s offense is the most serious of 

offenses against a person, that it was premeditated, and that it was 

carried out in a violent and horrifying manner.  FOF  46, 50, 60.  Even if 

one believes Salgado’s revisionist trial testimony and Diaz’s sanitized 

version of her involvement, the evidence still supports a finding that Diaz 

willfully participated in Jasmine’s murder. 

The plan to murder Jasmine originated with Diaz.  TRANSFER at 

364/3-12, 960/22, 993/7.  Diaz made the call to Jasmine for the ride to 

WalMart to purchase the lighter fluid that she and Salgado intended to 

burn her with.  INTERVIEW 3 at 94-95; INTERVIEW 2 at 1; FOF 29, 60.  
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Diaz grabbed two knives when they left the house.  FOF 28, 60; 

TRANSFER at 376/15, 543/12. 

Consistent with the plan to have Diaz start the murder and for 

Salgado to finish it, Diaz took the first stab at Jasmine’s neck in order to 

signal to Salgado that she was “serious” about going through with the 

murder.  INTERVIEW 3 at 95; TRIAL at 670/4.  Diaz’s opening stab 

allegedly missed her target so she tried to stab her again but Jasmine 

blocked the thrust.  INTERVIEW 3 at 82, 85, 95, 98; INTERVIEW 2 at 15-

16; FOF 34; TRANSFER at 947/16.  According to Diaz, Salgado took over 

from there.  FOF 34. 

Diaz was close enough to Jasmine as Salgado was stabbing her for 

Jasmine’s blood to spatter on her clothing.  EXHIBIT 137.  According to 

Diaz, she stood by and allowed Salgado to murder Jasmine “to prove his 

love” for her, just as she had earlier “proved it” to him by cutting her 

wrists.  INTERVIEW 3 at 99, 107.  Diaz helped load Jasmine into the 

trunk and doused her with lighter fluid so Salgado could immolate her 

alive.  INTERVIEW 3 at 84; FOF 36. 

Based on even Diaz’s self-serving version of the facts, the trial 

court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Diaz’s conduct was 

willful and not committed under duress.  First, when she initially 

confessed (and later when she was interviewed by Dr. David Bean and 

other mental health experts), Diaz did not say anything about Salgado 

forcing her to participate in Jasmine’s murder.  EXHIBITS 69b, 70, 71b; 
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TRIAL at 1311/24, 1312/20.  Salgado also testified that he did not 

threaten to kill or harm Diaz the night of the murder.  TRANSFER at 

426/14, 555/21.  Diaz’s initial description of the murder was of a joint 

enterprise which she encouraged and actively participated in. 

Second, Diaz’s later account of having participated under fear and 

duress is undermined by her own psychiatric evidence.  Diaz’s claim that 

Salgado forcibly sexually abused her is contradicted by statements she 

made to Indiana Child Services and her own psychiatric expert, Dr. 

David Bean, in which she described her sexual relations with Salgado as 

consensual.  TRANSFER EXHIBIT 314, RECORD at 2709; FOF 89, 90; 

TRANSFER at 250/2, 1010/15.   

The state’s expert, Dr. Don Dutton, found that Diaz’s and 

Salgado’s relationship was bilaterally physically and emotionally abusive.  

Diaz’s jealousy triggered much of the tension and violence in the 

relationship.  FOF 75, 85; TRANSFER at 283/18.  Arguments and 

physical altercations often ensued from Diaz’s belief that Salgado was 

“checking out” or walking too close to another female.  FOF 20, 23, 24, 

25, 39, 40, 76, 77; TRANSFER at 294/10, 315/8, 337/13, 346/18, 

458/7, 949/5, 1308/11.  Diaz would “go crazy” and hit Salgado, Salgado 

would hit back, or vice versa.  FOF 82; TRANSFER at 301/12, 331/11, 

558/16, 944/14, 949/6, 957/4, 957/22.  Salgado described Diaz as “a 

scrapper” and “a fighter,” as a “very violent” person who, though 

outclassed in weight by Salgado, was “not the type of person that you 
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just take a beating.”  TRANSFER at 332/24, 333/2, 505/19, 526/14, 

558/12, 957/22.  Diaz once kicked Salgado in the testicles when she 

suspected he was flirting with Jasmine.  TRANSFER at 984/19, 997/1.  

At times, Salgado himself was fearful of Diaz.  TRANSFER at 958/22.  A 

cyclical ritual of anger and fighting followed by make-up sex became the 

central feature of the relationship, with both partners contributing to the 

abuse.  FOF 75; TRANSFER at 949/7, 949/12, 961/16. 

According to Diaz, she was never injured in any of the physical 

altercations between her and Salgado, except for a bruise on one 

occasion.  FOF 86.  Salgado forthrightly testified that, though he knew it 

was wrong to hit a woman, he did slap Diaz with an open hand and pull 

her hair when they fought; Salgado, however, did not hit Diaz with his 

fists or often devolve to violence with her.  TRANSFER at 284/1, 534/4-

20.  Dr. Dutton found no evidence of Diaz reporting fear of Salgado until 

after the murder.  TRANSFER at 950/13; TRIAL at 1312/20.  Diaz 

herself reported that she had not suffered any physical abuse at 

Salgado’s hand.  FOF 83; TRIAL at 1218/21.  Dr. Dutton concluded that 

the predominant psychological pattern of the relationship, and catalyst 

for violence, was Diaz’s jealous anger toward Salgado, not fear of him.  

FOF 88; TRANSFER at 958/16, 950/17-25, 951/1, 956/5; 960/14, 

962/1. 

Diaz’s efforts to convince psychiatric experts that she was 

dominated and controlled by Salgado fell short in ways that corroborate 
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Dr. Dutton’s findings.  Despite Diaz’s alleged incidents of “traumatizing” 

abuse at Salgado’s hands, she did not exhibit any characteristics of post-

traumatic distress when examined by Dr. Bean or Dr. Travis Hansen.  

FOF 91, 93, 96; TRANSFER at 580/5, 607/22, 608/22, 615/15,  

946/24, 953/1, 1013/11.  Diaz did not tell Dr. Bean or Dr. Hansen (or 

law enforcement) that she feared Salgado or that he forced her to 

participate in the murder.  TRIAL at 653/10, 835/8-18, 854/8, 1222/21, 

1223/17, 1312/20. 

Once in custody, Diaz did not seek police protection from Salgado 

despite the officers’ expressions of concern for her wellbeing.  

INTERVIEW 1 at 25.  Instead, Diaz tried to steer suspicion away from 

herself and Salgado and toward Jasmine’s boyfriend, Ivan Contreras.  

Diaz said that she had met Jasmine on the street the day of the murder 

around 4:00 p.m.  INTERVIEW 1 at 41.  According to Diaz, Jasmine was 

on her way to see Ivan.  INTERVIEW 1 at 51.  Diaz falsely told the 

detectives that Jasmine was “scared” of Ivan.  INTERVIEW 1 at 80.  Diaz 

said that was the last time she saw Jasmine. 

As for herself and Salgado, Diaz told the police that they had spent 

the early evening together babysitting their host’s children.  INTERVIEW 

1 at 44-45.  Later that evening, Diaz said they were at a bookstore using 

the internet and out job hunting before returning home around 10:15 

p.m.  INTERVIEW 1 at 52-58.  Diaz fed these lies to the police expecting 
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to walk out of the police station and back into Salgado’s arms when the 

interview was over. 

  If Salgado had victimized Diaz, forced Diaz to participate in a 

grisly murder, and she really had nothing to do with it, all she had to do 

was tell this “truth” to the police and be rid of her alleged oppressor.  

Instead, Diaz lied to the police about her identity and circumstances 

because she did not want to be sent back to Indiana away from Salgado.  

INTERVIEW 1 at 32. 

If Diaz feared and cowed to Salgado, one finds no evidence of it 

when the video monitor captured her conversing with him through the 

wall of their neighboring interview rooms while detectives were out of the 

room.  Diaz, not Salgado, is calling the shots.  She tells him how to 

square their stories.  She tells him to take the blame and refuses to take 

any blame herself.  She grills him about the information he had already 

given law enforcement.  INTERVIEW 1 at 23; EXHIBIT 72, Appendix at 

067-071.  Displeased with the story Salgado is telling his interrogators, 

Diaz tells him to “shut up.”  INTERVIEW 3 at 110; EXHIBIT 72, Appendix 

at 067-071. 

The absence of any outward indicia of Salgado’s abuse or control of 

Diaz pre-dating the murder squares with a nagging contradiction at the 

heart of Diaz’s defense theory – Salgado had no motive to kill Jasmine 

except to placate Diaz’s jealousy.  If Salgado was willing to commit 

murder to appease Diaz, Diaz ipso facto held more control over Salgado 
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than he over her.  FOF 78, 97, 98; TRANSFER at 951/13, 955/3, 

960/22, 961/6.  The notion of killing Jasmine indisputably originated 

with Diaz.  TRANSFER at 382/11, 960/22.  The scenario of Salgado 

killing Jasmine at Diaz’s behest reveals a man responsive to her 

demands to “prove” his love in ways dictated by her, and cowed into 

killing to escape her jealous wrath.  FOF 27, 78, 98; TRANSFER at 

375/20, 382/14, 382/14, 411/19, 660/5-16, 944/13, 954/14, 955/2, 

961/1-12, 980/22. 

Truth be told, Diaz had Salgado, figuratively and literally, by the 

testicles; when she was not manipulating him emotionally with suicidal 

threats and gestures, binding him to her with a pregnancy, or fighting 

with him as part of some histrionic foreplay ritual, she flaunted her 

dominion over him by grabbing his testicles in her hand (sometimes in 

front of Salgado’s own mother) and screaming “These are mine . . . these 

are my nuts.”  TRANSFER at 256/25, 260/17, 302/10, 343/6, 348/19-

349/2, 531/2, 985/25, 994/10, 995/5, 1008/12, 1013/19, 1309/23; 

RECORD at 2698 (“Sometimes 14-year-old kids cut themselves to 

manipulate the system”).  To which Salgado would sheepishly respond 

“Yeah, these are yours.”  TRANSFER at 343/7. 

Salgado tried to break up with Diaz two or three times but “she 

kept bugging him” so he kept going out with her even though there were 

times when he was “very leery.”  TRANSFER at 554/23-555/1.  Logically, 

if Diaz could bend Salgado to her will, and goad him into helping her 
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murder Jasmine, she had the power to call it off.  TRANSFER at 961/11.  

Thus, in light of the evidence of Diaz’s autonomy, even dominance, in her 

relationship to Salgado, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in 

finding that Diaz’s participation in Jasmine’s murder was willful.  FOF 

99. 

4. The Prosecutive Merit Was Substantial 

The trial court correctly found that there was substantial merit to 

the prosecution’s case.  In addition to her confession, Diaz’s participation 

in Jasmine’s murder was corroborated by Salgado’s transfer hearing 

testimony, Salgado’s post-conviction interview with Dr. Dutton, the 

WalMart surveillance video showing Diaz and Salgado with Jasmine 

buying the lighter fluid, and blood spatter evidence on Diaz’s clothing.  

FOF 106, 109; TRANSFER at 936-38, 942-45; EXHIBIT 137. 

5. No Benefit Of Joint Proceedings 

The trial court correctly found this factor not applicable since Diaz 

was not being tried jointly with Salgado.  FOF 110. 

6. Diaz’s Prior History And Record 

Diaz’s prior encounters with the juvenile system in Indiana – for 

truancy, oppositional behavior, early sexual activity, theft, drug use – did 

not result in her rehabilitation.  Despite the efforts of friends, family, 

school officials and state child welfare personnel, Diaz was resistant to 

conforming to societal norms.  Dr. Bean reasoned that transfer was 

inappropriate because Diaz had no serious criminal violations prior to 
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Jasmine’s murder, but that logic is facile in an “Other than that, Mrs. 

Lincoln, how was the play?” sort of way.  TRANSFER at 1021/21. 

At JDC, while Diaz was generally respectful and cooperative with 

staff, she was viewed as a wolf in a sheep’s disguise; a sheep to staff but 

a wolf among her JDC peers.  At JDC she acquired a six-pointed star 

tattoo associated with a gang that espouses doctrines of evil, anarchy, 

opposition and anger.  FOF 114.  Diaz was involved in six known fights 

while at JDC.  SENTENCING at 46/8; RECORD at 2620.  She admittedly 

wanted to resort to violence in her relationships with her JDC peers, but 

refrained from doing so only to avoid the inevitable consequences of such 

conduct in a controlled facility.  TRANSFER at 610/7. 

Separated from Salgado, Diaz’s behavioral patterns have not 

changed remarkably.  She has redirected her jealous and threatening 

tendencies to JDC peers who dare to befriend her friends, who “break 

into the dyad” of Diaz’s possessive, singular connection to certain of her 

JDC peers.  TRANSFER at 605/13.  Diaz has displayed a “repetitive 

pattern” of being angry, temperamental, manipulative, sneaky, 

untrustworthy, rude, mean spirited, threatening, and sarcastic, resulting 

in numerous conduct and behavioral write-ups at JDC.  FOF 115; 

TRANSFER at 571/20, 587/24, 950/24.  On one occasion, Diaz falsely 

reported that a JDC peer had punched her in the arm, but was placed in 

disciplinary lockdown when video disproved her allegation.  RECORD at 

2682.  On another occasion, Diaz engaged in sexual activity with a JDC 
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guard, leading to the guard’s arrest for sexual exploitation of a minor.  

RECORD at 2621.  On the whole, Diaz’s juvenile record reflects a 

persistent and escalating disdain for societal norms. 

7. Public Safety/Rehabilitative Prospects 

Diaz’s diagnosis of conduct disorder, the juvenile euphemism for 

sociopathy, demonstrates that she is a continuing danger to other 

people.  FOF 150, 151, 182; TRANSFER at 570/24, 571/24, 589/10-18, 

1013/4.  “Adolescents experiencing a diagnosis of ‘conduct disorder’ 

show ‘a repetitive and persistent pattern in which the basic rights of 

others or major age-appropriate society norms are violated.”  RECORD at 

2722. 

Even before killing Jasmine, Diaz had amassed a significant record 

of anti-social conduct – truancy, drug use, early sexual activity, theft, 

disobedience to parental authority.  Before running away to South 

Dakota, Diaz thought she might solve the problem of her mother’s 

thwarting of her relationship with Salgado by putting a bag over her 

mother’s head and bludgeoning her to death with a 20-pound weight.  

FOF 12; TRANSFER at 272/6, 506/11.  Diaz spoke of killing other 

females whom she believed had designs on Salgado, or who may have 

caught Salgado’s eye, including her host in Mitchell who had taken her 

into her home.  TRANSFER at 507/19.  Diaz’s default response to people 

who trip her delicate trigger is to kill them.  The DOC does not have 

adequately secure juvenile facilities for an offender with Diaz’s risk 
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profile.  TRANSFER at 602/13.  She is an obvious risk to public safety if 

housed in an unsecure facility or prematurely released.  FOF 123, 124. 

Reclaiming Youth International (RYI) advocated against Diaz’s 

transfer to adult court, but the trial court found their testimony 

unhelpful because of bias.  FOF 132.  RYI’s focus was on Diaz’s best 

interests rather than on the balance between Diaz’s and the public’s 

interests.  RYI testified that it could never recommend transfer of any 16-

year-old to adult court under any circumstances.  FOF 132.  RYI also 

accepted Diaz’s version of events unquestioned, in disregard of 

conflicting information or the absence of objective corroboration, and 

despite a powerful motive to paint herself in the most positive light.  FOF 

135, 169; TRANSFER at 605/21, 948/16.  RYI’s report also rested on 

numerous implausible premises – such as Diaz having no innate 

inclinations toward aggression against others – that were contradicted by 

objective testing and witness reports.  TRANSFER at 963/15-965/24, 

614/15. 

In actuality, Diaz scored high on anti-sociality, anger and 

aggression scales in testing, and witnesses reported her wanting to fight 

or threatening to kill any “bitch” whom she imagined had designs on 

Salgado, or to fight Salgado himself.  TRANSFER at 347/12, 359/9, 

573/6, 738/4, 944/16, 950/17-25, 951/2, 956/5, 957/4, 958/2, 

960/14, 961/25, 962/1, 984/19.  Based on Diaz’s history and testing, 

Dr. Hansen believed Diaz was “very much capable of an aggressive 
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reaction” against those who provoke or displease her.  TRANSFER at 

614/23.  Because of RYI’s blatant bias, and unquestioning acceptance of 

the version of the events supplied to them by Diaz, the trial court found 

their opinion that Diaz was capable of reasonable rehabilitation by the 

age of 21 lacking in credibility and an appropriate foundation.  FOF 133, 

137, 162, 163. 

At the behest of Dr. Bean, Dr. Beverly Gunderson conducted 

various psychological tests.  Dr. Gunderson found that Diaz’s cognitive 

abilities and IQ fall in the average range.  FOF 142.  In addition to 

conduct disorder, Dr. Gunderson noted neurotic clinging behaviors, 

anger management problems and aggressive loss of control when not 

getting her way.  FOF 143, 145; TRANSFER at 735/12.  Dr. Gunderson 

found that Diaz tends to be oppositional, resistant, sneaky, 

underhanded, and provocative and flirtatious as means of gaining 

attention or achieving her ends.  FOF 144-148; TRANSFER at 732/12, 

950/24.  Diaz scored high on the “psychopathic deviant” scales 

significant of “anger and hostility which may result in an antisocial act.”  

TRANSFER at 729/24, 733/12, 738/4. 

Diaz’s Battered Woman Syndrome expert, Dr. Craig Rypma, also 

conducted an MMPI and found that Diaz exhibited traits of anger, 

resentfulness, hypersensitivity to criticism, and projecting blame onto 

others.  TRANSFER at 1274/25, 1293/4.  Diaz scored in the average 

range on Dr. Rypma’s IQ testing.  Diaz’s reasoning skills fell on the 
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border between average and moderately below average.  TRANSFER at 

1292/12.  

While Dr. Bean testified that he felt that Diaz’s psychiatric needs 

could be met in the juvenile system, Dr. Hansen disagreed in light of the 

severity and enduring pattern of Diaz’s conduct disorder.  FOF 159.  In 

Dr. Hansen’s view, Diaz’s calm, cool and collected reaction to the 

murder, and tendency to glamorize it to her JDC peers, revealed a 

disturbing lack of empathy, a belief that the rules do not apply to her, 

renewed patterns of jealousy and threats toward those whom she feels 

invade her singular relationships to her JDC peers, and a willingness to 

go to extreme lengths to fulfill her own agenda.  TRANSFER at 578/14, 

583/8-21, 584/6, 587/23, 604/5, 605/6-21, 608/22, 610/6. 

Like Dr. Hansen, Dr. Dutton was struck by Diaz’s statement 

(corroborated by Salgado’s testimony) that she felt “nothing, I was 

normal” after murdering Jasmine.  FOF 37, 172-177; TRANSFER at 

583/4, 946/9, 959/2.  Diaz’s “complete absence of emotional reaction to 

having committed a very intimate homicide” signified conduct disorder 

(sociopathy) of a severe nature.  TRANSFER at 646/20, 946/14.  Dr. 

Hansen testified that treating Diaz at JDC would not alleviate anti-social 

tendencies because “[c]onduct disorder type symptoms don’t just 

respond to therapy.”  TRANSFER at 644/18.  In light of the pronounced 

severity of Diaz’s conduct disorder, the trial court concluded that it was 

not reasonably possible to rehabilitate Diaz by the time she reached age 
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21 sufficiently to protect the public.  FOF 179-183; TRANSFER at 

588/22, 646/22. 

Because substantial psychiatric and other evidence favored trying 

Diaz as an adult, the trial court’s findings of fact and credibility 

determinations in regards to its transfer order are not clearly erroneous.  

Nor did the trial court’s determination that six of the seven statutory 

transfer factors favored trying Diaz as an adult constitute an abuse of 

discretion. 

8.  “Newly-Discovered” “Impeachment” Evidence 

Diaz also argues that the trial court erred in failing to vacate its 

transfer order in light of “newly-discovered” evidence that one of the 

state’s experts, Dr. Dutton, had been the subject of a sexual harassment 

complaint by a 35-year-old student in 1995.  As a result of the 

complaint, the British Columbia Human Rights Tribunal found that Dr. 

Dutton was responsible for inappropriately meeting with the student in, 

as described by the complainant herself, a “romantic” environment at his 

apartment, but not guilty of her accusation that he made physical sexual 

advances toward her.  APPENDIX at 077, 081.  Before filing a formal 

complaint against Dr. Dutton, the student first tried to blackmail him; 

she wrote him a letter demanding that he procure her admission to 

graduate school or she would do “whatever it took” to “destroy [him] 

professionally.”  APPENDIX at 078-80. 
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The trial court did not err in finding no grounds to reverse its 

transfer ruling based on the complaint.  First, evidence of the complaint 

was not “newly-discovered” in the sense that it was not discoverable prior 

to the transfer hearing.  A simple Google search of Dr. Dutton’s name 

turns up numerous links to articles reporting on the complaint as well as 

the tribunal’s opinion itself.  APPENDIX at 072-075.  Second, as found 

by the trial court, this extrinsic “impeachment” evidence did not bear on 

Dr. Dutton’s reputation for truthfulness or untruthfulness per SDCL 19-

14-10 (SDCL 19-19-608(b)). 

Third, the trial court found that it would have reached the same 

conclusion on the transfer issue regardless of the complaint based on the 

testimony of the other witnesses.  The trial court’s finding is fairly 

supported by the record.  As discussed above, the complaint hardly 

decisively impeaches Dr. Dutton’s when his opinions and testimony were 

largely corroborated by Drs. Bean, Gunderson, Rypma and Hansen and 

other evidence in the case. 

a. Dr. Dutton’s finding that the Diaz-Salgado relationship was 

bilaterally abusive, anger- and not fear-based, and that RYI’s 

opinions were wrongly premised on a stereotype of unilateral, male 

abuse, is supported by (i) Salgado’s testimony that Diaz was 

assaultive toward him, (ii) Dr. Rypma’s testimony that battering 

studies have “been done assuming that women are the victims, 

and logically we know that not to be the case” given the growing 
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recognition “that battering can occur to both sexes,” and (iii) Diaz’s 

own report of “considerable problems controlling her anger.”  

TRANSFER at 1279/13, 1296/5; RECORD at 2717. 

b. Dr. Dutton’s opinion that Diaz was not traumatized by the bilateral 

abuses of her relationship to Salgado was confirmed by Drs. Bean 

and Hansen.  FOF 91, 93, 96; TRANSFER at 580/5, 607/22, 

608/22, 946/24, 953/1, 1013/11. 

c. Like Dr. Dutton, Drs. Bean, Rypma and Hansen testified that Diaz 

did not report fear of Salgado or being forced by him to participate 

in Jasmine’s murder.  TRIAL at 1222/21, 1223/17, 1311/24, 

1312/22. 

d. Diaz’s capacity to act aggressively in her self-interest and resist 

domination is confirmed by her high scores on the antisocial scales 

of Dr. Gunderson’s testing.  TRANSFER at 729/24, 733/12, 

738/4.  Dr. Bean also reported that aggressive loss of control is 

apparent” from testing and that Diaz herself reported “considerable 

problems controlling her anger.” RECORD at 2717. 

e. Like Dr. Bean, Dr. Dutton testified that Diaz had not reported 

forcible sexual abuse by Salgado, which was further corroborated 

by Diaz’s hospital records, in which she reported that she had 

never been abused by anyone, and her report to Indiana Child 

Services that she and Salgado got along good and did not fight.  
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TRANSFER EXHIBIT 314; FOF 89, 90; TRANSFER at 250/3, 

1010/15; RECORD at 2697, 2701, 2709 2745. 

The sexual harassment complaint does little to “impeach” Dr. Dutton 

when his opinions and conclusions are shared by other experts in the 

case, including Diaz’s own. 

Thus, even if the trial court had imputed some kind of misogynistic 

bias to Dr. Dutton’s testimony stemming from his experience as a (mostly 

vindicated) respondent in a 20-year-old sexual harassment complaint to 

discount his credibility, or excluded it altogether, there is not a 

reasonable probability that earlier discovery of the complaint would have 

produced a different outcome of the transfer determination.   

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying Diaz’s motion to vacate 

its transfer order. 

9. Conclusion Re: Transfer Determination 

The trial court correctly found that there was substantial evidence 

– from Drs. Bean, Gunderson, Rypma, Hansen and Dutton – that it 

would be contrary to the best interests of both Diaz and the public for 

her to be tried as a juvenile.  Diaz is a proto-sociopath whose 

psychological testing, persistent anti-social behavioral patterns, 

deceitfulness, resentment toward the judicial system, and lack of 

remorse do not suggest a reasonable probability of rehabilitation by the 

time she is 21 years of age.  In light of this fact, the trial court did not 
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abuse its discretion in concluding that both Diaz and society are better 

served by a lengthier sentence in the adult system. 

B.  ISSUE 3: Diaz’s Challenge To The Admission Of Her Confession Is  
 Not Preserved For Review, Nor Are There Grounds For  
 Reconsidering And Reversing This Court’s Intermediate Ruling  

 

Diaz asks this court to sua sponte revisit and reverse its 

intermediate ruling in Diaz on three grounds: (1) dicta in the recent 

United States Supreme Court decision in Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 

S.Ct. 718 (2016); (2) Salgado’s assuming all responsibility for the murder 

during his trial testimony; and (3) alleged intimidation stemming from 

law enforcement’s placing a can of lighter fluid on the table during Diaz’s 

interrogation. 

At the outset of the trial, Diaz lodged a standing objection to 

admission of her confession based on arguments made during the 

suppression proceedings.  Diaz’s arguments herein were not, however, 

made during the suppression hearings, nor did Diaz raise these 

arguments in the court below in a motion to reconsider its suppression 

ruling or for a mistrial. 

To preserve issues for appellate review, litigants must make their 

arguments and objections to the trial court.  SDCL 23A-44-13.  Issues 

not brought to the trial court’s attention cannot ordinarily be raised for 

the first time on appeal.  Where error has not been preserved by 

objection or otherwise, inquiry on review is limited to whether the trial 

court committed plain error.  “Plain errors or defects affecting substantial 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000359&cite=SDSTS23A-44-13&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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rights may be noticed although they were not brought to the attention of 

a court.”  SDCL 23A-44-15.  Plain error analysis requires the defendant 

to demonstrate prejudice, which is to say that the error must “seriously 

affect the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of judicial proceedings” 

to warrant reversal  State v. Nelson, 1998 SD 124, ¶¶ 7, 8, 587 N.W.2d 

439, 443.  “The trial court's evidentiary rulings are presumed correct and 

will not be overturned absent a clear abuse of discretion.”  Kaiser v. 

University Physicians Clinic, 2006 SD 95, ¶ 29, 724 N.W.2d 186, 194. 

1. Montgomery v. Louisiana 

Diaz argues that this court should sua sponte reverse its ruling 

admitting Diaz’s confession because of the United States Supreme 

Court’s recent Montgomery decision.  Specifically, Diaz references dicta in 

Montgomery, where the court reaffirmed the generic “principle that 

juveniles are different than adults” previously articulated in Miller.  

Montgomery, 136 S.Ct. at 733.  Montgomery did not expand on Miller 

beyond applying its principles retroactively.  But since the principle that 

juveniles are different was fully appreciated and duly applied in this 

court’s decision affirming the admission of Diaz’s confession, Montgomery 

did not enunciate any new principle of law warranting this court’s re-

examination of its suppression ruling.  Diaz, 2014 S.D. 27 at ¶ 22, 847 

N.W.2d at 154.   

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000359&cite=SDSTS23A-44-15&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998252416&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_595_443
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998252416&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_595_443
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2010576195&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_194&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_595_194
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2010576195&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=I3bc6f51ebd2011dcb595a478de34cd72&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_194&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_595_194
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2. Salgado’s Trial Testimony 

Diaz argues that her confession was improperly introduced in light 

of Salgado’s trial testimony in which he asserted – contrary to his pre-

conviction confession, transfer testimony, and post-conviction interview 

with Dr. Dutton – that Diaz had nothing to do with the murder.  

TRANSFER at 942-945. 

A totality of the circumstances analysis applies in deciding whether 

a juvenile knowingly and intelligently waived her Miranda rights.  Fare v. 

Michael C., 499 S.Ct. 2560, 2571–72 (1979).  When determining 

admissibility of a juvenile’s  confession, a court must “consider the 

juvenile's age, experience, education, background, intelligence,” level of 

maturity, “capacity to understand the warnings, the nature of [the] Fifth 

Amendment rights, and the consequences of waiving such rights . . . 

together with the gravity of [any] misrepresentations used by the 

interrogating officers.”  State v. Horse, 2002 S.D. 47, ¶ 13, 644 N.W.2d 

211, 218–19.  Although not per se rules, other significant factors taken 

into consideration are whether the juvenile was warned “of the possibility 

of being tried as an adult,” whether notice was given to the juvenile's 

parent or guardian, and whether the juvenile had an opportunity to 

confer with the parent or guardian.  Diaz, 2014 S.D. 27 at ¶ 23, 847 

N.W.2d at 154. 

The foregoing recitation of standards reflects that the admissibility 

of a juvenile’s confession hinges on the defendant’s state of mind at the 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135154&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Ifc221c64d74711e39488c8f438320c70&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2571&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_708_2571
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1979135154&pubNum=0000708&originatingDoc=Ifc221c64d74711e39488c8f438320c70&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_708_2571&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_708_2571
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002262713&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ifc221c64d74711e39488c8f438320c70&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_218&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_218
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002262713&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ifc221c64d74711e39488c8f438320c70&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_218&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_218
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time the confession is made, and the circumstances which prompted the 

confession.  Salgado’s trial testimony from five years after Diaz’s 

confession has no bearing on the analysis of whether her waiver was 

knowing and voluntary when made.   

Nor does Salgado’s trial recantation point to Diaz’s actual 

innocence as might occasion a plain error reversal.  Nelson, 1998 S.D 

124 at ¶ 8, 587 N.W.2d at 443.  As discussed above, Diaz herself 

admitted to planning and participating in the murder.  Also, the version 

of the events described in Salgado’s transfer testimony is better 

corroborated than Diaz’s self-exculpatory version.  For one, unlike Diaz, 

Salgado did not shift all responsibility for the stabbings from himself; his 

transfer testimony has a quality of verisimilitude because he realizes no 

benefit from implicating Diaz while admitting to stabbing Jasmine several 

times in the stomach and leg himself.  TRANSFER at 413/22, 414/15. 

For another, there is corroborating evidence of Diaz’s motive to kill 

Jasmine from Ivan Contreras.  Contreras had to protect Jasmine from 

being assaulted by Diaz at a party three days before the murder.  

Jasmine, who laughed when Diaz accused her of trying to steal Salgado 

from her, failed to appreciate how provocative this was to Diaz.  

Contreras understood; he warned her “You don’t get it.  They’re fighting 

because of you.”  TRANSFER at 957/1-19.  Thus, Diaz “had the greater 

motive for killing Jasmine.”  TRANSFER at 960/23. 
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Finally, Salgado’s version is corroborated by the physical evidence.  

The elastic wrist cuff of the hoodie Diaz was wearing during the murder 

is saturated with blood consistent with contact and transfer stains 

imparted while Diaz was stabbing Jasmine.  TRANSFER at 921/6, 

928/1-7. 

3. Lighter Fluid 

Diaz also argues that this court should reexamine its suppression 

ruling because law enforcement placed a can of lighter fluid on the table 

in front of her during her interview.  The interview transcript, however, 

reflects that Diaz had already confessed, during the initial 58-minute gap 

in the transcript between Interview 1 and Interview 2, when the bottle of 

lighter fluid was placed before her simply to confirm it was what was 

used to burn Jasmine.  INTERVIEW 2 at 1; TRIAL at 598/6-22. 

Diaz was prompted to confess when she was confronted with the 

WalMart surveillance video, which exposed the elaborate false alibi she 

had just fed the detectives for the lie that it was.  Believing the video 

meant that the police “knew what was going on,” Diaz admitted “We did 

it.  We did it.”  TRIAL at 595/4, 655/12, 660/20; INTERVIEW 1 at 40-42, 

52-53, 55, 58.  Diaz then confessed to a sanitized version of her 

involvement that shifted primary blame for the actual killing to Salgado.  

INTERVIEW 3 at 82-87, 94-101.  When asked if there was anything the 

officers had said that “made” her confess, Diaz said only that she 
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confessed just to get if off her chest, but nothing about the can of lighter 

fluid.  INTERVIEW 3 at 126. 

Thus, contrary to Diaz’s argument, the bottle of lighter fluid did 

not frighten or induce her to confess.  Rhines v. Weber, 2000 SD 19, ¶ 23, 

608 N.W.2d 303, 309 (alleged false promise that Rhines would not 

receive the death penalty did not warrant suppression of confession 

when “Rhines [had] made incriminating statements prior to [the 

detective] ever mentioning South Dakota's recent history with the death 

penalty”).  In view of the fact that this court properly accounted for Diaz’s 

juvenile status in its decision reversing the suppression of her 

confession, and the absence of any evidence of actual innocence or 

improper influence during her confession, there is no error here so plain 

as to impugn the integrity of the proceeding or warrant reversal of Diaz’s 

conviction. 

C.  ISSUE 4: The Trial Court Properly Instructed The Jury On Diaz’s  
 Battered Woman Defense 

 

Diaz argues that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury 

on the allegedly particular effects of Battered Woman Syndrome (BWS) 

on juvenile victims.  According to Diaz, in addition to a standard BWS 

instruction, the trial court should have further instructed the jury that 

she, as a juvenile, “experience[d] a heightened sense of imminent danger” 

from Salgado as compared to an adult victim. 

“Trial courts possess broad discretion in instructing the jury.” 

State v. Pellegrino, 1998 SD 39, ¶ 9, 577 N.W.2d 590, 594.  “Upon proper 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998089071&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_594&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_594
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request, defendants are entitled to instructions on their defense theories 

if evidence supports them.”  Pellegrino, 1998 SD 39 at ¶ 9, 577 N.W.2d at 

594.  “[J]ury instructions are adequate when, considered as a whole, 

they give the full and correct statement of the law applicable to the case.”  

State v. Rhines, 1996 SD 55, ¶ 111, 548 N.W.2d 415, 443.  To reverse a 

trial court's refusal to give an instruction, the defendant must be unfairly 

prejudiced by the refusal.  Rhines, 1996 SD 55 at ¶ 111, 548 N.W.2d at 

443.  Moreover, the defendant must show that “the jury might and 

probably would have returned a different verdict if [the] instruction had 

been given.”  Rhines, 1996 SD 55 at ¶ 111, 548 N.W.2d at 443. 

At the outset, it is worth noting that BWS is not itself a defense or 

justification for murder independent of duress.  State v. Leidholm, 334 

N.W.2d 811, 820 (N.D. 1983); State v. Thomas, 673 N.E.2d 1339, 1345 

(Ohio 2002).  “In other words, ‘[t]he existence of the syndrome in a 

[relationship] does not of itself establish the legal right of [a female] to kill 

[her boyfriend], the evidence must still be considered in the context” of 

duress.  State v. Burtzlaff, 493 N.W.2d 1, 8 (S.D. 1992); Leidholm, 334 

N.W.2d at 820.  A “court need not include a specific instruction on 

battered woman syndrome in its charge to the jury” if it gives appropriate 

instruction on the law of the defendant’s asserted defense, here duress.  

Leidholm, 334 N.W.2d at 820 (BWS instruction not required if jury 

properly instructed on self-defense).  

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998089071&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_594&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_594
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998089071&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_594&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_594
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996116517&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_443
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996116517&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_443
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996116517&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_443
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1996116517&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_443&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_443
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Thus, BWS evidence is admissible only “to assist the trier of fact to 

determine whether the defendant acted out of an honest belief that she 

[wa]s in imminent danger of death or great bodily harm and that the use 

of such force was her only means of escape.”  Thomas, 673 N.E.2d at 

1345.  Here, the court properly instructed the jury that it should view 

Diaz’s fear of “imminent serious bodily injury” from the perspective of a 

“person in [her] situation.”  INSTRUCTIONS 44, 45, Appellant’s Appendix 

at 43.  The instruction given, thus, directs the jury to view the events 

surrounding the murder from the situational perspective of a15-year-old, 

illegal immigrant, runaway, in a mutually abusive relationship with an 

older male member of a Mexican gang.  

Moreover, Diaz would be entitled to her proposed BWS instruction 

only if it was supported by the evidence, but it was not.  At the risk of 

appearing to minimize Salgado’s abuse, Diaz herself never described 

being the victim of life-threatening abuse.  RECORD at 2697 (prior to 

murder, Diaz “reported she has never been abused by her parents or 

anyone else”); TRANSFER at 615/14, 974/6 (Salgado’s “violence did not 

rise to a level that was either injurious or trauma-inducing”).  Salgado 

slapped Diaz but did not strike her with a fist, never beat her bloody or 

unconscious or broke her bones, and never threatened to kill her.  TRIAL 

at 797/16, 895/6-21.  Dr. Bean himself describes the cuts to Diaz’s wrist 

as “superficial,” more a “suicidal gesture” than a life-threatening event.  

RECORD at 2708, 2745; TRANSFER at 1008/12-25.  Diaz herself 
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reported that she had not tried to kill herself when she cut her wrists but 

rather to “prove” her love.  TRANSFER at 985/25; RECORD at 2696. 

The pre-murder record was so barren of evidence of abuse by 

Salgado that Dr. Bean even admitted to being “surprise[d]” to hear Diaz’s 

post hoc claim that Salgado had cut her wrists.  TRANSFER at 1031/17.  

Since Diaz never described any incident of heightened, life-threatening 

abuse at Salgado’s hands, her evidence did not support an instruction of 

heightened fear.  TRANSFER at 974/7, 966/8. 

Also, there is no evidence in the record supporting Diaz’s theory 

that she, as a juvenile, experienced a “heightened sense of imminent 

danger” compared to the same sense of danger an adult person in her 

situation would feel.  Dr. Rypma, Diaz’s BWS expert, did not testify that 

Diaz’s sense of imminent danger was “heightened” because she was a 

juvenile.  Dr. Bean concluded that Diaz had not been traumatized by any 

act of abuse by Salgado such as would evidence a “heightened” fear of 

him.  Dr. Bean’s observation is corroborated by Salgado’s mother, who 

stated that Diaz “never seemed afraid of Alex” and Salgado’s transfer 

testimony that Diaz was not afraid of him.  TRANSFER at 554/14, 

994/8.  Also, according to Diaz’s host in Mitchell, Diaz and Salgado acted 

“like a normal couple,” “attached, like touchy, touchy” and “always by 

each other or sitting by each other, talking constantly.”  TRIAL at 

1123/24, 1140/5.  Diaz is not entitled to an instruction on her theory of 
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heightened fear if she has not introduced appropriate evidence to 

support it.  Pellegrino, 1998 SD 39 at ¶ 9, 577 N.W.2d at 594. 

Finally, proof of duress required Diaz to show “no reasonable 

opportunity . . . to escape.”  INSTRUCTION 44.  According to Diaz, she 

did not stab at Jasmine until Salgado had exited the vehicle and walked 

toward the haunted house.  INTERVIEW 2 at 16-18; INTERVIEW 3 at 98; 

TRANSFER at 402/15; TRIAL at 737/22, 740/25.  With Salgado locked 

out of the car, Diaz could have easily warned Jasmine that she was in 

mortal danger and that they both needed to drive away from Salgado that 

instant.  TRANSFER at 405/11, 409/21; TRIAL 741/8.  If Salgado’s past 

abuse was any indication, the consequence of doing so for Diaz was 

being slapped and dragged by her hair, whereas the consequence for 

Jasmine was agonizingly fatal.  TRANSFER at 966/5, 974/7.  Thus, Diaz 

did not have a “well-grounded apprehension of imminent death or 

serious bodily injury” sufficient to establish duress at the time of 

Jasmine’s murder.  

In view of the lack of actual evidence of life-threatening abuse, and 

the undisputed fact that Diaz and Jasmine could have readily escaped 

from Salgado when he was locked out of the car, it cannot be credibly 

asserted that Diaz was prejudiced in failing to receive the requested 

heightened fear instruction, or that the jury would have bought her 

duress defense if she had.  Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in refusing Diaz’s battered woman instruction. 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1998089071&pubNum=0000595&originatingDoc=Ia0b66c80ff4011d99439b076ef9ec4de&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_594&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_595_594


36 

 

D. ISSUES 5, 6, 7: Diaz’s 80-Year Sentence Is Not Illegal,   
Disproportionate, Or Unconstitutional 

 

Finally, Diaz challenges her 80-year sentence on three grounds: (1) 

the alleged disproportionality of her sentence; (2) her young age and 

alleged potential for rehabilitation; and (3) because a term of 80 years is 

allegedly a de facto prohibited life sentence.  As discussed below, Diaz’s 

sentence is neither unconstitutional nor an impermissible mandatory life 

sentence, nor did the trial court abuse its discretion in imposing an 80-

year sentence under the circumstances of this case. 

1. 80-Year Sentence Not Disproportional 

When a defendant challenges a non-capital sentence on 8th 

Amendment grounds, this court conducts a de novo review to determine 

whether the sentence is grossly disproportional to the offense of 

conviction.  State v. Rice, 2016 SD 18, ¶ 11, --- NW2d ---, citing State v. 

Chipps, 2016 SD 8, ¶ 31, 874 N.W.2d 475, 486.  The standard for gross 

disproportionality is “relatively straightforward.”  Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶ 

38, 874 N.W.2d at 488.  The court looks at the gravity of the offense in 

comparison to the harshness of the penalty.  Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶ 38, 

874 N.W.2d at 488-89. 

The gravity component of the test “refers to the offense’s relative 

position on the spectrum of all criminality.”  Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶¶ 35, 

36, 40, 874 N.W.2d at 487, 488, 490.  Considerations when judging the 

gravity of the offense include the defendant’s conduct relative to the 

crime, whether the crime is one of violence to a person, the level of 
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intent, the defendant’s motive, and (if the sentence is being enhanced for 

recidivism) the defendant’s past record.  State v. Traversie, 2016 SD 16, ¶ 

16; Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶¶ 35, 36, 40, 874 N.W.2d at 487, 488, 490.    

The harshness component refers to “the penalty’s relative position 

on the spectrum of all criminality,” not the maximum sentence permitted 

by statute for the crime in question.  Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 19.  Since the 

harshness of penalties relative to the gravity of an offense rarely leads to 

an inference of gross disproportionality under contemporary sentencing 

schemes, the proportionality review typically ends with the comparison.  

Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶ 38, 874 N.W.2d at 488-89. 

If, from the initial comparative analysis, there is an appearance of 

gross disproportionality, the court will then compare the subject 

sentence to those imposed on other criminals for the same crime within, 

or if necessary, without the jurisdiction.  Chipps, 2016 SD 8 at ¶ 38, 874 

N.W.2d at 488-89.  Only if this latter comparison confirms gross 

disproportionality may the sentence be said to violate the 8th 

Amendment’s prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment. 

Applying the foregoing standards to Diaz’s challenge, the gravity of 

the offense of homicide militates in favor of a severe sentence.  Rice, 2016 

SD 18 at ¶ 14.  Homicide the “highest crime” against a person and 

society.  Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 14.  In Diaz’s case, her premeditated 

participation in the highest form of the highest crime is grave in the 

extreme on the spectrum of criminality.  Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 14.   
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The harshness factor also favors the sentence imposed in that 

Diaz’s de facto sentence of 40 years (accounting for her parole eligibility) 

is lenient in comparison to the life and capital sentences typically 

imposed on defendants convicted of the same crime as Diaz.  Rice, 2016 

SD 18 at ¶ 15.  Thus, Diaz’s 40-year sentence gives no appearance of 

being grossly disproportionate to the crime of premeditated, first-degree 

murder. 

Though comparison with the sentences imposed on others 

convicted of the same offense is not made when, as here, a sentence is 

not grossly disproportionate on its face, comparing Diaz’s sentence to 

sentences imposed on other juvenile offenders convicted of homicides 

confirms that her sentence is not grossly disproportionate. 

a. Daniel Neil Charles was 14 when he shot his allegedly abusive 

stepfather in the head with a .25-06 rifle.  State v. Charles, 

2001 SD 67, ¶¶ 2-3, 628 N.W.2d 734, 736.  Charles was tried as 

an adult, convicted of first degree murder and sentenced to 92 

years in prison.  CHARLES RE-SENTENCING ORDER, Appendix 

at 084. 

b. Shawn Cameron Springer was 16 when he participated in a 

felony-murder robbery of a Ft. Pierre cab driver.  State v. 

Springer, 2014 SD 80, ¶¶ 1-2, 856 N.W.2d 460, 461.  Springer 

was sentenced to 261 years, which, per the parole eligibility 
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table, equated to a de facto sentence of 33 years.  Springer, 

2014 SD 80 at ¶ 5, 856 N.W.2d at 462-63. 

Like Charles, but unlike Springer, Diaz has never provided an honest 

account of the crime, taken full responsibility, and did not plead guilty.  

Charles, 2001 SD 67 at ¶ 7, 628 N.W.2d at 736; Springer, 2014 SD 80 at 

¶ 3, 856 N.W.2d at 461.   Unlike Charles, Diaz did not kill her alleged 

abuser, making her sentence significantly more lenient in comparison.  

Diaz’s sentence is, thus, not grossly disproportionate to sentences 

imposed in other juvenile homicide cases.  

Diaz’s case is readily distinguishable from the proffered 

comparable juvenile offenses and offenders cited in her brief.  While 

portions of Anderson’s, Kruthoff’s and Rice’s 80-year sentences were 

suspended, the murder in that case was committed extemporaneously, 

incidental to a botched robbery, without the level of planning and 

premeditation found in this case.  Also, unlike Diaz, all of the defendants 

pled guilty to a lesser offense of first-degree manslaughter and provided 

honest accounts of the events of the crime to authorities whereas Diaz 

did not plead and has not offered an honest account of the murder.  

Unlike Diaz, Scholten was a passive participant in the Anderson/ 

Kruthoff/Rice robbery scheme and not the architect of the crime.  Rice, 

2016 SD 18 at ¶ 25.  The homicides perpetrated by Contreras, Fischer 

and Horn were not premeditated and none were convicted of first degree 

murder.  While the homicides in Hopkins, LeGrand, Libby, and New Holy 
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were more deliberate, these defendants all pled guilty and were convicted 

of no more than manslaughter or second-degree murder.  The lenient 

sentence in McCahren is an aberration resulting from the trial judge’s 

admitted misapplication of the parole eligibility table in calculating the 

gross sentence. 

Since Diaz’s sentence is not being enhanced as a repeat offender, 

her lack of prior criminal history does not mitigate the gravity of her 

offense of conviction.  Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 18. 

2. 80-Year Sentence Not An Abuse Of Discretion 

A sentence which fails the gross disproportionality test (which 

Diaz’s does not) may be further challenged for an abuse of discretion.  

Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 23.  “An abuse of discretion is a fundamental 

error of judgment, a choice outside the range of permissible choices.”  

Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 23.  Consequently, “a sentence within the 

statutory maximum [generally] will not be disturbed on appeal.”  Rice, 

2016 SD 18 at ¶ 23.  A “sentencing court should acquire a thorough 

acquaintance with the character and history” of the defendant, 

including the defendant’s degree of culpability, “general moral character, 

mentality, habits, social environment, tendencies, age, aversion or 

inclination to commit crime, life, family, occupation, and previous 

criminal record.”  Rice, 2016 SD 18 at ¶ 27. 

Over the course of the trial, the sentencing court became 

thoroughly familiar with Diaz’s life and character, and the record reflects 
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that the sentencing court gave due consideration to all pertinent 

sentencing factors.  First, the court noted the enormity of the crime and 

the need for a sentence that would satisfy society’s interests in 

punishment, deterrence, restitution and rehabilitation.  SENTENCING at 

90/6-15.  Next, the court acknowledged the particular sentencing 

considerations pertaining to juveniles.  SENTENCING at 92/5. 

Within this framework, the sentencing court justifiably found that 

the murder was “wanton” and “chilling.”  SENTENCING at 92/20.  The 

court was disturbed that Diaz had repaid Jasmine’s many kindnesses – 

the food, clothing, money and transportation she provided to Maricela – 

with “the worst kind of evil,” and “for no reason.”  INTERVIEW 1 at 39; 

SENTENCING at 93/2.  The court concluded Jasmine’s murder was “a 

crime that calls out for harsh punishment.”  SENTENCING at 95/9. 

In determining that punishment, the court noted that Diaz had 

been a decent child up to age 13.  SENTENCING at 95/14.  It observed 

that Diaz came from a caring home, though one beset by the hardships 

of poverty, displacement and acclimation to a new country and culture.  

SENTENCING at 96/16.  The court was struck by the fact that Diaz, 

despite her young age, “sought out the relationship” with Salgado 

knowing “he was a dangerous person.”  SENTENCING at 97/10.  Even 

as her family, school officials and state child welfare personnel tried to 

keep her from away from Salgado, Diaz resisted and ultimately 
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abandoned her own child in order to pursue an unfettered relationship 

with him.  SENTENCING at 97/19. 

The circumstances of the crime were a factor that certainly 

weighed against Diaz.  As noted by the sentencing court, the murder 

was very deliberate and gruesome.  SENTENCING at 98/4-11.  The 

court also did not feel that Diaz’s violence against Jasmine, or the 

“depravity” of the murder, could be explained by Salgado’s abuse of 

Diaz.  SENTENCING at 98/6. 

Still, the court generously allowed that Diaz could still have some 

“decency” in her and might yet be rehabilitated.  SENTENCING at 

98/20.  It felt that there was “room for healing” in Diaz’s being, “for 

growth” and “to move forward and make a productive life.”  Balancing 

this perceived capacity for healing and growth against the public’s safety 

and interest in imposing “serious punishment” for a horrendous crime, 

the court concluded that Diaz’s reformation would “need to take place 

behind the walls of an institution.”  SENTENCING at 99/14. 

The record reflects that the court took account of the appropriate 

standards and facts in arriving at its sentence.  In spite of her youth, 

the trial court did not abuse its discretion in sentencing Diaz to a term 

of 80 years in light of the gravity of the offense, her failure to accept 

responsibility, the absence of any sincere expression of remorse, and the 

persistence of her anti-social behavioral patterns. 



43 

 

3. 80-Year Sentence Not A DeFacto Life Sentence 

Finally, Diaz argues that she has been sentenced to a de facto life 

sentence because her remaining life expectancy of 63.7 years is less than 

her 80-year sentence.  First, Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012), 

does not prohibit life sentences for juveniles, it merely prohibits life 

sentences imposed mandatorily, without consideration for the juvenile’s 

prospects for rehabilitation. 

Second, a de facto life sentence is one in which “the defendant’s 

parole eligibility date falls outside of the defendant’s life expectancy.”  

Springer, 2014 SD 80 at ¶ 20, 856 N.W.2d at 468.  The parole eligibility 

table codifies leniency for Class A juvenile offenders by affording them 

Class C eligibility status.  SDCL 24-15A-32.  Per the table, Diaz need 

only serve 50% of her sentence, which equates to a de facto 40-year 

sentence.  She will be parole eligible at age 55.  With a life expectancy of 

83.7 years, Diaz will enjoy 28.7 years of freedom after her release.  Time 

to marry, time to have a relationship with her daughter, time to be a 

grandmother, time to contribute to society – more time to experience life’s 

various stations than Diaz allowed to Jasmine Guevara.  There being no 

constitutional error or abuse of discretion in the court’s imposition of an 

80-year sentence, this court should affirm Diaz’s sentence. 

CONCLUSION 

For as long as Diaz continues to deny her active involvement in the 

murder – admitting only to the passive culpability of “failing to stop” 
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Salgado or “failing to help” Jasmine – her prospects for rehabilitation are 

zero.  RECORD at 2713.  Nor can she be trusted until she admits what 

she did.  Her expressions of remorse cannot be trusted.  Her ostensible 

commitment to rehabilitation cannot be trusted.  Her promises to honor 

society’s norms and laws in the future cannot be trusted. 

Diaz is now age 20.  She is not presently rehabilitated, nor will she 

be in one short year’s time.  Faced with this reality, transferring Diaz to 

adult court was not just a prudent exercise of judicial discretion, it was 

the sole means of protecting the public from her antisocial proclivities in 

the near future and fashioning a sentence commensurate with the 

horrific dimensions of her crime.  Diaz’s conviction and sentence, 

accordingly, should be affirmed. 

 Dated this 26th day of April 2016. 
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Preliminary Statement 

References to the transfer hearing will be to the designation (TH) followed by the 

applicable volume and page number; suppression hearing transcript will be to the 

designation (SH) followed by the applicable page; jury trial transcripts will be referred to 

as (JT) followed by the applicable volume and page number; and references to the 

sentencing hearing will be to the designation (SH) and the applicable page. References to 

the State’s/Appellee’s Brief will be to the designation (SB) followed by the applicable 

page number.   

Jurisdictional Statement 

 

This Court has appellate jurisdiction pursuant to SDCL §15-26A-1(1), SDCL 

§23A-32-2; SDCL §23A-32-5 and SDCL §23A-32-9.   

Request For Oral Argument 

Appellant, Maricela Diaz, and her counsel, Doug Dailey and Chris Nipe, 

respectfully renew the request for the privilege of appearing before this Court for oral 

argument. 

Statement of the Issues 

1. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Ordering Diaz be Tried in Adult 

Court. 

The trial court in the juvenile case held that Diaz should be transferred from 

juvenile court to adult court.  The most important cases are: State v. Jensen, 

1998 S.D. 52; State v. Harris, 494 N.W.2d 691 (S.D. 1993); 
 
State v. Rios, 499 

N.W.2d  906 (S.D. 1993); and State v. Flying Horse, 2002 S.D. 47.  The most 

important statute is SDCL § 26-11-4. 
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2. Trial court abused its discretion in denying a new hearing on the transfer of 

Diaz to adult Court despite newly discovered evidence following the hearing 

regarding the State’s expert witness Dr. Donald Dutton. 

The trial court denied defendants motion to grant a new hearing on the 

transfer of Diaz to adult court after new evidence was disclosed by the State in 

regard to its expert witness who testified on behalf of the State at the transfer 

hearing.  The most important cases are:  Bridgewater Quality Meats, LLC v. 

Heim, 2007 S.D. 233; and Steele v. Steele, 510 N.W.2d 661 (S.D. 1994).  The 

most important statute is SDCL §15-6-59(b) 

3. The trial court erred in admitting the statements made by Diaz to law 

enforcement.   

This Court held the statements of Diaz were admissible as it found Diaz 

knowingly and intelligently waived her Miranda rights.  The most important 

cases are:   State v. Maricela Nicolasa Diaz, 2014 S.D. 27; Miranda v. 

Arizona, 384 U.S. 436; 86 S.Ct. 1602 (1966); State v. Horse, 2002 S.D. 57; 

and People in the Interests of J.M.J., 2007 S.D. 1.  The most important 

statutes are:  SDCL §26-7A-12; SDCL §26-7A-13; SDCL §26-7A-15; and 

SDCL §26-7A-17. 

 

4. Trial Court failed to adequately instruct the jury with a full and correct 

statement of the law applicable to the effects of physical and sexual abuse on 

a juvenile’s perception of imminent fear, thereby, denying her right to 

present her Defense.  

The trial court denied the use of Defendant’s proposed jury instructions which 

would have instructed the jury on the heightened sense of imminent danger 

felt by children who suffer from physical and sexual abuse.  The most 

important cases are: State v. Walton, 600 N.W.2d 524 (S.D. 1999); State v. 
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Springer, 2014 S.D. 80; and Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012).  The 

most important statutes are: NA.  

5. The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Sentencing Diaz to 80 Years, with 

No Time Suspended. 

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  State v. McKinney, 2005 S.D. 

73; State v. Hinger, 1999 S.D. 91; Bult v. Leaply,  507 N.W.2d 325 (S.D. 

1993). The most important statutes are: NA 

6. The Sentenced Imposed on Diaz Violated the Principle of Proportionality of 

Sentencing. 

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  Solem v. Helm, 463 U.S. 277 

(1983); State v. Bonner, 1998 S.D. 30; State v. Rhines, 1996 S.D. 55; 7 State 

v. Blair, 2005 S.D. 75. The most important statutes are: NA 

7. The Trial Court Erred by Sentencing Diaz to a De Facto Life Sentence.  

The trial court sentenced Diaz to 80 years in prison for first degree murder, 

and a 50 year sentence for aggravated kidnapping, to run concurrently with no 

time suspended.  The most important cases are:  Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 

48, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 176 L.Ed.2d. 825 (2010); Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 

551, 125 S.Ct. 1183, 161 L.Ed.2d 1 (2010); Miller v. Alabama, 132 S.Ct. 2455 
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(2012); and Montgomery v. Louisiana, S.Ct. Docket 14-280. The most 

important statutes are: NA 

Statement of the Case 

Appellant Diaz hereby incorporates the Statement of the Case contained in the 

Brief of Appellant as though fully set forth herein.  

Statement of Facts 

Appellant Diaz hereby incorporates the Statement of the Facts contained in the 

Brief of Appellant as though fully set forth herein.  

ARGUMENTS 

1. The Trial Court Abused Its Discretion in Ordering Diaz be Tried in 

Adult Court. 

 The State’s Brief is a fanciful and lurid concoction of misstated facts, matters 

outside of the record, and the State’s own psychiatric evaluation (in its brief) which is 

nowhere supported in the record. 

 The State, in its brief, continually paints the 15-year old Diaz (and even the 13-

year old Diaz) as some sort of sexual predator, and resorts to a terrible “blame the victim” 

game regarding sexual abuse.  Any trial court in South Dakota, and this Court on appeal, 

would not, in a criminal proceeding against a rapist, consider an argument that the child 

was “asking for it.”  However, that is just what the State does in its brief time and time 

again.  “Diaz’s claim that Salgado forcibly sexually abused her is contradicted by 

statements that she made to Indian Child Services and to Dr. Bean, in which she 

described her sexual relations with Salgado as consensual.  (SB 11).  The State continues 

to argue “On another occasion, Diaz engaged in sexual activity with a JDC guard, leading 
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to the guard’s arrest for sexual exploitation of a minor” (SB 18) and “sought out the 

relationship” with Salgado. (SB 41). Diaz was universally considered by all examining 

psychiatrists as the victim of sexual abuse by Salgado, and of course, South Dakota law 

considers her to be a sexual abuse victim also.  Salgado was guilty of the rape of Diaz 

(see SDCL 22-22-1(5)) and obviously the jail guard exploited her sexually which is also 

indicative of Diaz’ naiveté and vulnerability to sexual predators. To let the State paint 

Diaz as anything but a victim in these circumstances is a monumental disservice to all of 

the sexual abuse victims in South Dakota. 

The State tries to portray Diaz, the 15-year old girl with no prior criminal 

experience, to be in control, both physically and emotionally, of Salgado, the adult 

gangbanger who belonged to the gang Sureno 13.  “At times, Salgado was fearful of 

Diaz.”  (SB 12).      “Diaz, not Salgado, is calling the shots.”  She tells him to take the 

blame and refuses to take the blame herself.  “Salgado was cowed into killing to escape 

her jealous wrath.”  (SB 15).  “She flaunted her dominion over him.” (SB 15).  “Diaz 

could bend Salgado to her will….” (SB 15).  Such an assertion is laughable – that the 

five-foot tall, 100 pound, 15-year old girl could intimidate and physically dominate the 

adult gang member.  Salgado admitted at the transfer hearing that he beat up another man 

because he thought he was making advances toward a previous girlfriend (TH Vol. III 

494), that he was doing drugs (smoking 10 to 15 blunts a day) (TH Vol. III 511), using 

crack cocaine (TH Vol. III 512), that he smacked Diaz (TH Vol. III 521), and that he cut 

Diaz’s wrists (TH Vol. III 529), and that, although Diaz sometimes tried to fight back, 

“She was not strong enough.” (TH  Vol. III 526).  Dr. Gunderson testified that “she was 

very dependent upon him, and was very controlling of her…” (TH Vol. IV 729). 



 
 6 

Although the State relies heavily on the testimony of later the discredited Dr. 

Donald Dutton in its argument, Dutton didn’t know that Salgado had admitted to 

physically abusing Diaz, didn’t know that Salgado had violated a protection order in 

favor of Diaz by taking her to South Dakota, and, astoundingly, didn’t even know the 

legal age for consent for sex. (TH Vol. V 980, 981).  Although everyone relied on what 

Alex Salgado said about his relationship with Diaz, no one tested him to see if he was 

sociopath or a psychopath.  (See TH Vol. V 979).  As to the argument that the 

impeachment evidence later provided by the State regarding Dutton should not be 

considered in whether the transfer should have actually been made or a new hearing 

granted, it is clear that an expert testifying about the appropriateness of sexual 

relationships would be impeached by an examination of whether he had an inappropriate 

sexual relationship with a student under his dominion.  The findings attached to the 

State’s Brief states that “I find that Dutton’s sole aim was the gratification of his own 

personal and sexual interests in Mahmoodi.  I find that Dutton created and controlled a 

sexualized environment ….. he engaged in sexual conduct in relation to Mahmodi.”  (SB 

Appendix 081). This is the expert upon which the State relies, and presented to the 

juvenile trial court, to testify about the nature of the relationship between Diaz and 

Salgado?  The State also attaches an article which is not part of the record which 

sympathizes with Dr. Dutton over the situation, and also states that “A simple Google 

search of Dr. Dutton’s name turns up numerous links to articles reporting on the 

complaint as well as the tribunal’s opinion itself.” (SB Appendix at 072-075).  These 

items are not part of the record at all.  It is clear that they were printed on April 7, 2016, 

and should not be considered in any way by the court. Although it is clear that an appeal 
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must be based on the record and not on the argument of counsel, (see Department of 

Revenue of State of Ill. for Use of People v. Steinkopf, 513 N.E.2d 1016, 160 Ill.App.3d 

1008, 112 Ill.Dec. 407 (Ill. App. 1 Dist., 1987),) it is improper argument to inject matters 

before the Court which are not even in the trial record. 

The State even inserts its own diagnosis of Diaz on appeal.  “Diaz’s diagnosis of 

conduct disorder, the juvenile euphemism for sociopathy, demonstrates that she is a 

continuing danger to other people.  (SB 18).   No psychiatrist testified that a conduct 

disorder is “the juvenile euphemism for sociopathy” as referred to in the State’s Brief.  

The State again refers to Diaz in the same terms later in its brief.   “Diaz is a proto-

sociopath, …”  (SB 25).  State’s Brief “Diaz’s “complete absence of emotional reaction 

to having committed a very intimate homicide” signified conduct disorder (sociopathy) of 

a severe nature.  (SB 21).   

That is not a correct recital of the record and no one testified that Diaz was a 

sociopath, either at the transfer hearing or at trial. 

  Dr. Bean and Dr. Hansen, who testified for the State at the transfer hearing, 

clearly testified that juveniles cannot be diagnosed with a personality disorder (such as 

being a sociopath), “namely, because adolescents are young and those traits aren’t as 

ingrained or as enduring or persistent”, in the words of Dr. Hansen. (TH Vol. III 570).   

In other words, because “juvenile minds are different.”  Montgomery v. Louisana, 136 

S.Ct. 718 (2016).  Exactly. 

The State tries to buttress its argument that the trial court was correct in its 

transfer decision by referencing Dr. Craig Rypma, stating that Dr. Rypma found that Diaz 

exhibited traits of anger and resentfulness (SB 20), and refers again to Dr. Rypma’s 
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testimony on Page 23 of the State’s Brief.  There is one problem with that.  Dr. Rypma 

did not testify at the transfer hearing.   Similarly, the State refers to Ivan Contreras, 

having to protect the victim from Diaz at a party. (SB 29). Although there is some 

reference to Contreras in the transfer hearing, he did not testify at the transfer hearing, 

and, in fact, died prior to trial. 

The State refers to Dr. Gunderson’s testimony at the transfer hearing and in more 

than one place in its brief says that Dr. Gunderson said that Diaz tends to be oppositional, 

resistant, sneaky, underhanded, and provocative and flirtatious as a means of gaining 

attention or achieving her ends.  (SB 20).  That is not correct and the State has 

misrepresented those findings continually in these proceedings.  Dr. Gunderson said that 

Maricela was in a class of individuals that could have those characteristics – that the test 

creates a bubble of characteristics that people in that category may or may not have.  It 

was not a literal description of Diaz.  (TH Vol. IV 726, 727).  She further testified that 

Maricela’s results were not unusual for an adolescent, that she did not have an unusual 

profile, and that it was quite similar to others that she had seen.  (TH Vol. IV 728).  

Again, Dr. Bean testified that a conduct disorder “is a very common diagnosis in a child 

adolescent.”  Dr. Bean went on to state that “it’s not an unusual diagnosis.  It’s – kids 

who are disobedient, truant, running around, not following their parents’ admonitions are 

a common group of individuals coming in for diagnostic evaluation in the child 

adolescent division of our department of psychiatry”, (TH Vol. V 1006), and further 

stated that “the people we had at McCrossan’s Boys Ranch were 99 percent cognitive – 

or conduct disorders.”  (TH Vol. V 1017).  So, rather than the psychotic depiction of Diaz 

wrongfully portrayed by the state, her psychiatric examinations revealed a very normal 
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pattern for a child experiencing trouble. 

Again, contrary to the State’s lurid assertion that “Diaz had amassed a significant 

record of anti-social conduct” (SB 18), it is clear that Diaz skipped some school, only 

partook of drugs or alcohol because Salgado furnished them to her, and that her only 

involvement in the juvenile justice system or any contact with law enforcement was a 

CHINS proceeding because of Salgado and the effect that he had on her.     The State also 

portrays Diaz as a continuing problem in the Minnehaha County Juvenile Detention 

Center.  However, Jeffrey LeMair testified at the transfer hearing that “there’s been 

nothing of violence to another youth, to a staff member, profane gestures, threats of our 

lives, threats to escape.  The greatest threat was to harm self, and she told us about it.”  

(TH Vol. IV 784).  He later states in response to questioning as follows:  “Are there any 

incidents of violence that you’ve noted in Maricela’s incident report?  Answer:  None…  

Question: No violence directed at another person?  Answer:  Nothing.”  (TH Vol. IV 

789).  He goes on to say, in contrast to the State’s Brief, that Diaz “matured” (TH Vol. IV  

790) and was “compassionate”. (TH Vol. IV 791). 

Finally, the State’s argument that the juvenile system did not have secure facilities 

to keep Diaz is belied by the very fact that she was housed in the Minnehaha County 

Juvenile Detention Center until she was 18.  In light of the plain fact that the State did 

have secure juvenile facilities, her lack of a criminal record,  her age, and in light of the 

domination of Diaz by Alexendar Salgado.   This matter should have remained in 

juvenile court. 
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2.  Trial court abused its discretion in denying a new hearing on the transfer 

of Diaz to adult Court despite newly discovered evidence following the hearing 

regarding the State’s expert witness Dr. Donald Dutton. 

Appellant Diaz relies on the argument contained in the Brief of Appellant with 

regard to this issue.  

3.  The trial court erred in admitting the statements made by Diaz to law 

enforcement.  

The State argues that the Defendant’s standing objection to the introduction of her 

statements to law enforcement was insufficient to raise the issue once again with this 

Court and to raise the additional grounds that have been presented, and that “clear error” 

must exist for this Court to consider this argument again.  While Defendant argues that 

clear error did exist, Diaz does not agree that clear error is necessary for these issues to be 

considered.  Where a litigant has advanced the issue below, which gives the trial court an 

opportunity to rule, and the court rules, it is not necessary to object at trial in order to 

preserve the issue for appeal.  Diaz had earlier made a motion in limine to suppress her 

statements to law enforcement.  That is sufficient to preserve the issue, and this 

argument, for appeal.  “A means of giving the trial court an opportunity to rule on 

admissibility of evidence is the motion in limine.  The purpose of a motion in limine is to 

dispose of legal matters so counsel will not be forced to make comments in the presence 

of the jury which might prejudice his presentation."  The (intermediate court of appeals) 

therefore did not need to resort to plain error review to reach the merits of the error 

alleged by the Kobashigawas on appeal.  Kobashigawa v. Silva, 300 P.3d 579, 129 

Hawai'i 313 (Hawaii, 2013).  See also, State v. Kelly, 685 P2d 564 (Wash.2d, 1984), “the 
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party losing the motion in limine has a standing objection.” The authorities disclose that 

the allowance of a standing objection to the introduction of evidence, thus preserving the 

issue for appeal, has been allowed only to the party losing the motion to exclude the 

evidence.   See Kelly, supra;  State v. Sullivan, 847 P.2d 953, 69 Wn.App. 167 

(Wash.App. Div. 2, 1993) .  See also   State v. Haddock, 897 P.2d 152, 257 Kan. 964 

(Kan., 1995), where Haddock filed a pretrial motion in limine seeking to exclude DNA 

evidence.  At trial, his counsel objected before the expert DNA testimony, stating the 

"Court knows our position, that it's not sufficiently shown to be reliable for the 

procedures in this case."   The trial court granted a standing objection. Haddock argued in 

a pretrial motion that the marital discord evidence should be excluded as irrelevant, 

unduly prejudicial, and inadmissible under K.S.A. 60-455.  Haddock renewed his earlier 

objections to such evidence at trial, thus preserving the issue for appeal. 

This is codified in South Dakota statutes at §19-19-103, which provides in part, 

“Once the court makes a definitive ruling on the record admitting or excluding evidence, 

either at or before trial, a party need not renew an objection or offer of proof to preserve a 

claim of error for appeal.”   

 When Diaz has previously made a motion in limine with regard to the statements 

of law enforcement, and then sought a standing objection to the introduction of the 

testimony at trial, that is sufficient to preserve the issue for appeal and presentation to this 

court.  Clear error is not required. 
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4. Trial Court failed to adequately instruct the jury with a full and correct 

statement of the law applicable to the effects of physical and sexual abuse on a 

juvenile’s perception of imminent fear, thereby, denying her right to present her 

Defense.  

Appellant Diaz relies on the argument contained in the Brief of Appellant with 

regard to this issue.  

5.  The Trial Court Abused its Discretion in Sentencing Diaz to 80 Years, 

with No Time Suspended. 

Once again, the State argues that Diaz, despite her young age “sought out” the 

relationship with Salgado, and resisted attempts from child welfare personnel to keep her 

away from Salgado, in order to pursue an “unfettered” relationship with him.  This is also 

noted by the trial court in sentencing.  This is once again an attempt to force 

responsibility for a sexual relationship upon a victim.  This again, was a 15-year old 

defendant, with no criminal record, whose only involvement in the court system at all 

was being a child in need of supervision, who came under the control of her sexual and 

physical abuser.  The trial court abused its discretion by imposing an 80 year sentence 

with no time suspended on such a child. 

6. The Sentenced Imposed on Diaz Violated the Principle of Proportionality 

of Sentencing. 

Appellant Diaz relies on the argument contained in the Brief of Appellant with 

regard to this issue.  

7.  The Trial Court Erred by Sentencing Diaz to a DeFacto Life Sentence 

The State argues that Diaz did not receive a de facto life sentence because the 
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parole eligibility table codifies leniency for Class A juvenile offenders by affording them 

Class C eligibility status under SDCL 24-15A-32.  Therefore, the State argues, Diaz need 

only serve 50% of her sentence, which equates to a de facto 40 year sentence. However, 

this Court should not consider possible parole as a factor in deciding whether a court has 

imposed a life sentence.  The legislature is in complete control over whether Diaz ever 

receives parole.  Our parole statutes were completely changed in 1996.  What is to say 

that they will not be changed again, or eliminated?  The status of the possible parole of 

Diaz is complete speculation.  That is because parole is not a legal right of the defendant.  

That is clear both from case law and statute. 

        See Martin v. Chandler, 122 SW3d 540 (Ky., 2003), where the appellant argued that 

a change in the parole statutes constituted an improper enhancement of his sentence. The 

Supreme Court of Kentucky disagreed, stating “The appellant misunderstands the nature 

of parole. The Supreme Court long ago established that parole is not a right but a 

privilege. Furthermore, "[g]rant of parole is not a right but a matter of grace or gift to 

persons deemed eligible ...." Thus, the appellant still faces a maximum five-year 

sentence; no more and no less. When he becomes eligible for parole is largely irrelevant.”  

Martin, supra.    Parole is a matter of grace. Myers v. Ridge, 712 A.2d 791 (Pa. Cmwlth. 

1998). Quinones v. Commonwealth (Pa. Commw. Ct., 2010). 

Finally, that rule is codified in SDCL §24-15-1.1, which provides that “Parole is 

the discretionary conditional release of an inmate from actual penitentiary custody before 

the expiration of the inmate's term of imprisonment. The prisoner remains an inmate 

under the legal custody of the Department of Corrections until the expiration of the 

inmate's term of imprisonment. A prisoner is not required to accept a conditional parole. 
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A prisoner is never entitled to parole. However, parole may be granted if in the judgment 

of the Board of Pardons and Paroles granting a parole would be in the best interests of 

society and the prisoner.  Neither this section or its application may be the basis for 

establishing a constitutionally protected liberty, property, or due process interest in any 

prisoner.” 

Therefore, if the parole statutes are amended once again to increase the time that 

Diaz must serve, she will be subject to those new, harsher limits.  If those statutes are 

amended to eliminate parole, she will serve the 80 year sentence.  She will not be able to 

file a new appeal to have this Court consider this issue again if that happens. If parole is 

not a right- if parole or the lack of it cannot be the basis for a constitutional challenge 

based on liberty, property, or due process – then why should this Court consider it in 

deciding this issue? This Court should consider the one firm fact of this sentence – Diaz 

is sentenced to 80 years in prison, and that exceeds her life expectancy.  

CONCLUSION 

Wherefore, Appellant Maricela Diaz respectfully requests that this Court for the 

relief requested herein and as contained in the Brief of Appellant. 

Respectfully submitted this 16
th

 day of May, 2016. 

 

      
       _______________________________________________________________________________________              

    Doug Dailey 

Chris A. Nipe 

      

Attorneys for Appellant  

Maricela Diaz  

     

 

  



 
 15 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 

Pursuant to SDCL §15-26A-66, counsel for the Appellee does hereby submit the 

following: 

 

The foregoing brief is 10 pages in length. It is typed in proportionally spaced 

typeface in Times New Roman 12 point.  The word processor used to prepare this brief 

indicates that there are a total of 3,160 words in the body of the brief. 

 

      
       _______________________________________________________________________________________              

      Doug Dailey 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING AND PROOF OF SERVICE 

 

Doug Dailey states that he is an attorney for Appellant, Maricela Nicolasa Diaz, 

and that on the 16
th

 day of May, 2016, he caused to be sent a true and correct copy of the 

Appellant’s Reply Brief and this Certificate of Mailing and Proof of Service in the above-

entitled matter by electronic service, to: 

 

Marty Jackley 

SD Attorney General 

atgservice@state.sd.us  

 

Paul Swedlund 

Deputy Attorney General 

paul.swedlund@state.sd.us  

       

and that he mailed the original and two copies of the Brief of Appellant and this 

Certificate of Mailing and Proof of Service to the Clerk of the Supreme Court of South 

Dakota, 500 East Capitol, Pierre, SD 57501-5070, by depositing the original and two 

copies of the same in the United State’s Mail, postage prepaid first class mail, on the 16
th

 

day of May, 2016. 

 

      

        

       
 _______________________________________________________________________________________              

      Doug Dailey 

mailto:atgservice@state.sd.us
mailto:paul.swedlund@state.sd.us

	AB
	AB Appendix
	Index
	1. Order Granting motion to transfer to adult court
	2. FOF and COL re Transfer Hearing
	3. Motion to Vacate Order
	4. Memorandum Decision on motion to Vacate
	5. Order on Motion to Vacate Order
	6. Final Jury Instructions 44 adn 45
	7. Defendant's Supplemental Proposed Jury Instructions
	8. Defendant's A Jury Instruction Refused
	9. Defendant's B Jury Instruction Refused
	10. Defendant's Sentencing Memorandum
	11. Judgment of Conviction 
	12. SDCL 15-6-59(b)
	13. SDCL 23A-27-1
	14. SDCL 26-11-4

	Diaz.Amicus Mexican Consulate
	Diaz.AmicusBrief.Center for WCY.
	RB
	AB Appendix

	RB Appendix
	27432 RB Appendix Index
	1. Exh 69b
	2. Exh 70
	3. Exj 71b
	4. Exh 72
	5. Google search result re Dr Dutton
	6. British Columbia Human Rights Tribunal Excerpt
	7. State v. Charles Amended Judgment of Conviction


	ARB

